



# The Council of Europe Recommendation to member states on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity (CM/Rec(2010)5)

A survey of progress towards implementation in 16 member states

(January 2013)

#### Prepared by ILGA-Europe with the help of Transgender Europe

This report was financially supported by the Dutch Government Department for Gender & LGBT Emancipation of the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science. The opinions expressed in the document do not necessarily reflect the positions of the Dutch Government.



Government of the Netherlands

### The Council of Europe Recommendation to member states on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity (CM/Rec(2010)5)

### A survey of progress towards implementation in 16 member states at January 2013

### Contents

Summary	
Recommendations	6
Background	7
General findings	8
The Recommendation	10
Appendix to Recommendation	
i. Right to life, security and protection from violence	
a. "Hate crimes" and other hate-motivated incidents	
b. "Hate speech"	15
ii. Freedom of association	
iii Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly	19
iv. Respect for private and family life (excluding specific transgender issues) (Section I 19, and 23 – 27 of the Appendix)	
v. Respect for private and family life and access to health care – specific transgender	issues 26
	20
vi. Employment	
vi. Employment	
vii. Education	
vii. Education viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues	
vii. Education viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues ix. Housing	
vii. Education viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues ix. Housing x. Sports	
<ul> <li>vii. Education</li> <li>viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues</li> <li>ix. Housing</li> <li>x. Sports</li> <li>xi. Right to seek asylum</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>vii. Education</li> <li>viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues</li> <li>ix. Housing</li> <li>x. Sports</li> <li>x. Sports</li> <li>xi. Right to seek asylum</li> <li>xii. National human rights structures</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>vii. Education</li> <li>viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues</li> <li>ix. Housing</li> <li>x. Sports</li> <li>x. Sports</li> <li>xi. Right to seek asylum</li> <li>xii. National human rights structures</li> <li>Appendix 1 – Participating organisations</li> <li>Appendix 2 - The Recommendation, its Appendix, and the associated checklist question</li> </ul>	30 32 36 38 39 40 41 43 ons used in 44

### The Council of Europe Recommendation to member states on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity (CM/Rec(2010)5)

### A survey of progress towards implementation in 16 member states at January 2013

### **Summary**

This report summarises the findings of research in 16 Council of Europe member states<sup>1</sup> on the extent to which the Recommendation of the Committee of Ministers on combating discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity ("the Recommendation") has been implemented. Its main purpose is to provide input to the Council of Europe's review of implementation of this Recommendation.

In five of the countries studied work has started on implementing the Recommendation. In four of these, the development of action plans is to varying degrees under way, supported by a Council of Europe project designed to assist member states with implementation of the Recommendation. In the fifth a number of sexual orientation and gender identity related campaigns are already incorporated in a national plan for equality.

While this is positive, it has to be noted that in the other countries studied, little, if any, action has been taken to implement the Recommendation since its adoption in March 2010. Moreover, to the extent that there is compliance with the Recommendation in any of the countries under review, this arises largely from measures taken in the 5 to 10 years prior to its adoption. The majority of these measures are legislative, particularly anti-discrimination laws. While very important for establishing a framework, their practical benefits are, so far, limited, with poor enforcement and the absence of supporting programmes such as training, awareness raising and introduction of codes of practice and procedures.

The position of transgender persons is particularly disturbing, with sterilisation mandatory for legal gender recognition in most of the countries, and little evidence of plans to address this serious human rights violation.

Thus, while a start has been made in some of the countries under review, the development of comprehensive strategies and plans for implementation of the full range of issues addressed by the Recommendation over a realistic timeframe remains an essential first step in all of them. The Council of Europe has an important role to play in supporting this development.

The extent of implementation of the Recommendation in the 16 countries can be summarised as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, FYR Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Serbia, and Ukraine. Participating organisations were selected on the basis of a call for proposals open to NGOs in all Council of Europe member states.

**Introduction of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation** (CofE 3)<sup>2</sup>: for sexual orientation, introduced in seven of the 16 countries, and for gender identity, in four.

Adoption of measures such as an overall strategy, action plan etc (CofE 3): only one of the countries studied has an action plan in place, albeit of limited application, although action plans in one form or another are under development in four others.

**Collection and analysis of relevant data** (CofE 4): data on hate crimes is collected in only three countries; research into the causes of negative attitudes and of levels of social acceptance is conducted in eight, although often in very limited form.

**Existence of effective legal remedies** (CofE 5): Even where laws addressing discrimination, hate crimes and hate speech on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity exist, absence of specific and effective training within the law-enforcement system, combined with failure to gain the confidence of LGBT persons in law-enforcement agencies, render any remedies that exist on paper largely ineffectual.

**Translation and dissemination of the Recommendation and its Appendix** (CofE 7/8): a translation of the Recommendation was made available by the national authorities in four countries, and dissemination was conducted in four countries.

**Measures to address hate crimes** (CofE 9 – 12): six of the countries studied explicitly treat a sexual orientation related bias motive as an aggravating circumstance, and two do so in respect of gender identity. There was relatively little evidence of training to ensure effective, prompt and impartial investigations, and almost none of measures to encourage reporting by victims and witnesses. The same was true of specific measures to ensure the safety of LGBT persons in prison.

**Measures to address hate speech** (CofE 14): four of the countries have laws that explicitly prohibit sexual orientation hate speech, and only one, gender identity. Seven have laws or guidelines addressing elements of the media, although none of these covers all three main fields, broadcast, electronic and print. In none of the countries reviewed have specific measures been taken to raise awareness of public authorities of their responsibility to refrain from homophobic or transphobic speech, and in many such statements by public figures are never or rarely repudiated. In one country cases challenging sexual orientation hate speech have been rejected by the courts.

**Freedom of association** (CofE 15+17): on the positive side, in all the countries studied except one, LGBT organisations can be registered, in most cases without difficulty. They can also operate freely. However it was relatively rare for the authorities to consult them, and even rarer to act on their views.

**Freedom of expression** (CofE 18): in most of the countries studied the authorities have, with relatively minor exceptions, respected the freedom of expression of LGBT people, although without taking any positive measures to ensure it. However, in three there are serious concerns with regard to existing or proposed legislation, particularly through laws banning so-called "propaganda for homosexuality".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In December 2012 the Council of Europe's Steering Group for Human Rights (CDDH), as part of its survey of implementation of the Recommendation, sent a questionnaire to all member states. To facilitate comparison, summary headings in this report include a cross-reference to the question in the Council of Europe's questionnaire.

**Freedom of assembly** (CofE 18/19): exercise of this right remains contested and risky in most of the countries studied. Events have been banned by the authorities in three since the adoption of the Recommendation, and bans have been attempted in two others. Moreover, in around three quarters of these countries violent opposition, or the threat of it, inhibit enjoyment of this right. Indeed, it seems that in only four of the countries studied can freedom of assembly definitely be exercised freely, without danger of prohibition, and without the need for large-scale police protection.

**Respect for private and family life (excluding transgender specific issues)** (CofE 20/21+24/25): while discriminatory criminal law provisions have all been repealed, there are serious concerns in two countries over the collection of personal data. Family rights remain a major area of discrimination. Of the eight countries studied that provide rights to unmarried couples, only three make them available to same-sex couples. Of the 13 that provide no form of legal recognition for same-sex couples, not one has taken steps to address the practical problems faced by same-sex couples in the absence of such recognition. When it comes to parenting, measures to prevent discrimination are virtually non-existent in any of these countries.

**Respect for private and family life and access to healthcare for transgender persons** (CofE 22/23 +30): only one of the countries studied complies with the Recommendation in making legal gender recognition possible in a quick, transparent and accessible way. Moreover, 13 make such legal recognition abusively dependent on procedures such as sterilisation, other surgical treatment, or hormone treatment. For those transgender persons needing gender reassignment treatment, in only two countries were adequate services available, while in only five did public health insurance schemes make a proportionate contribution to the related costs on a largely consistent basis.

**Employment** (CofE 26): 14 of the countries studied had anti-discrimination laws in this field in respect of sexual orientation, but only four in respect of gender identity. However, there was little evidence of any other measures to combat discrimination in the workplace. There was also little evidence of measures taken in respect of discrimination in the armed forces, and indeed, in three countries regulations permit the exclusion of transsexuals.

**Education** (CofE 27): in eight of the countries studied anti-discrimination provisions exist in one form or another in relation to sexual orientation, and five in relation to gender identity, but there is little or no evidence in these or other countries of practical measures to address bullying and other forms of discrimination. Limited information in relation to sexual orientation and gender identity is included in the curricula of four of the countries studied. However in some others there was evidence of homophobic and transphobic teaching, and five of the reports identified textbooks which include homophobic or transphobic material. In no country were measures taken to meet the specific needs of transgender pupils.

**Health** (CofE 28): with the exception of HIV/AIDS prevention measures, there was no evidence in any of the countries that national health plans and services take account of the specific needs of LGBT people. While homosexuality is no longer classified as a disease in any of the 16 countries, it was reported that in three it is still at times treated as an illness or mental disorder by health professionals, or referred to as such in medical textbooks. Identification of a same-sex partner as next of kin is problematic in most of the countries studied.

**Housing** (CofE 31/32): five of the countries studied prohibit sexual orientation discrimination in housing, and two do so on grounds of gender identity. Almost no other measures were identified in any of the 16 countries to prevent discrimination in this area.

**Sports** (CofE 33): almost no measures were identified in any country.

**Right to seek asylum** (CofE 34/35): only five of the countries studied explicitly refer to sexual orientation in their laws or regulations on asylum, and only one refers to gender identity; only four appear to have conducted any training in relation to LGBT asylum seekers, and none has taken measures to provide protection from discrimination in detention centres.

**National human rights structures** (CofE 36): of the 16 countries studied, 13 had national human rights structures compliant with the Paris Principles. Of these, eight are mandated to address sexual orientation and five gender identity discrimination. In practice, most have made efforts to support the rights of LGBT people.

### Recommendations

#### To member states:

To adopt comprehensive strategies and action plans designed to implement fully all aspects of the Recommendation, in close consultation with organisations working for the rights of LGBT persons.

#### To the Council of Europe:

To strengthen the capacity of the Secretariat so that it has the resources both to increase significantly the scale of its work supporting member states in implementing the relevant human rights standards, and to mainstream issues relating to sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination in the work of the Council of Europe;

To assist member states by identifying and publicising models of best practice under each of the headings of the Recommendation;

To conduct a survey of the situation of LGBT persons in non-EU Council of Europe member states using the methodology developed by the Fundamental Rights Agency for its survey in EU member states;<sup>3</sup>

To develop guidelines for member states on how to implement quick, transparent and accessible legal gender recognition of transgender persons in a manner consistent with human rights principles;

To increase the allocation of resources to the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance to enable it to undertake effective monitoring of the full range of applicable human rights standards by member states;

To conduct further reviews of implementation of the Recommendation at three yearly intervals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For details of the Fundamental Rights Agency survey, see http://fra.europa.eu/en/theme/lgbt

### Background

The Recommendation of the Committee of Ministers on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity is a document of great importance for LGBT people and others working for equality in Europe. It reaffirms unequivocally that human rights apply to all persons without exception, including LGBT persons. It acknowledges the centuries-old discrimination experienced by LGBT people on account of their sexual orientation or gender identity and recognises that this discrimination continues and must be addressed. And, crucially, it sets out in detail the measures required of member state governments across a wide range of areas to combat this discrimination. Of particular relevance to this report, it stresses that the measures must be specific and targeted.

The Recommendation was agreed unanimously by the 47 member states. Although, as a Recommendation rather than a Convention, it is not legally binding, it is based solidly on existing legally binding international and European human rights obligations. Member states therefore have a clear duty to implement its measures.

When adopting the Recommendation in March 2010 member states agreed to review progress towards implementation after three years. The main purpose of this report is to provide information for that review. To this end, ILGA-Europe, working with Transgender Europe, has coordinated the preparation of reports by organisations in 16 member states assessing the progress made by the authorities towards implementation of the Recommendation, and highlighting the areas where further action is needed. This report summarises these findings.

Organisations in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, FYR Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Serbia, and Ukraine applied to take part in the project in response to a call for participants open to NGOs in all Council of Europe member states. Details of the participating organisations are listed in Appendix 1. Their reports are available at the ILGA-Europe website,<sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.ilga-</u>europe.org/home/guide/council of europe/lgbt rights/recommendation com lgbt/reports.

ILGA-Europe acknowledges with thanks the support for this project of the Dutch Government Department for Gender & LGBT Emancipation of the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science.

#### Methodology

The assessment of progress by the respective member states in the 16 national reports and in this report is based on a standard checklist of specific detailed measures needed to implement the Recommendation. This list was derived from the text of the Recommendation and its Appendix, supplemented with additional measures recommended in the Explanatory Memorandum. The operative text of the Recommendation, its Appendix, and the associated checklist questions, are set out in Appendix 2.

Each of the national reports consists of two main elements: a Summary Report and a detailed Compliance Documentation Report. The latter is a completed version of the above standard checklist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the case of Georgia, the report has been produced in two versions, a shortened version, and an extended version. References in this report are to the extended version.

The data used by participating organisations to complete the checklist were obtained from a number of sources. Most importantly, information requests were sent to the responsible ministries and other agencies. These consisted of an explanation of the Recommendation, and a request to complete the relevant questions on the checklist. They were supplemented by data from published sources, and research and documentation assembled by the participating organisations.

The number of ministries and agencies approached varied from country to country, ranging from around a dozen up to approximately seventy in Bosnia-Herzegovina. The response rate was relatively high. We acknowledge with thanks the many ministries and agencies that took the time and trouble to reply.

A high proportion of the replies referred only to general anti-discrimination policies, programmes or other activities. Since the Recommendation is clear as to the need for specific and targeted measures, such general statements have been discounted in both the national reports and this report in assessing progress towards implementation.

#### This report

As noted, the main purpose of this report is to provide information for the review by the Council of Europe. It concentrates on whether or not the recommended measures have been taken. To that end it follows exactly the structure of the Recommendation and its Appendix in summarising the findings of the 16 national reports. Each sub-heading is referenced to the paragraph number of the Recommendation or the Appendix, and also to the associated checklist question or questions. Except where otherwise indicated by a footnote, the source for any information quoted is the response to the checklist question in the applicable national Compliance Documentation Report.

The main body of this report is supplemented with an appendix in which short summaries of the situation in each of the countries reviewed are presented.

This report does not seek to provide comprehensive documentation of the discrimination concerned, since the Recommendation itself acknowledges its existence and the need for action. Moreover the report by the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, *Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe*, published in June 2011, documents this discrimination in great detail across the 47 member states. However some examples of discrimination, or additional commentary from the country reports, are included in the text by way of illustration. These necessarily relate to a particular country, but should not of themselves be taken to indicate that the situation in that country is worse than in another.

### **General findings**

In assessing progress, it is important to recognise that the discrimination which the Recommendation seeks to address is deeply entrenched. The Recommendation is the first comprehensive intergovernmental agreement of its kind in the world. It is a start point, and it is inevitable that it will take time, effort and above all political will to implement.

Making due allowance for the above, it is nevertheless disappointing to see how little weight has been given to the Recommendation in most of the countries studied. To take one very simple indicator: of the 16 countries studied, in only four could it be stated with confidence that the Recommendation and its Appendix have even been translated by the national authorities. And in only four did there appear to have been real efforts to ensure its dissemination.

It is clear that such progress as has been made has little to do with the Recommendation in most countries. Indeed, a high proportion of the areas where there is a significant degree of compliance with the Recommendation (for example, decriminalisation of same-sex relationships, declassification of homosexuality as an illness, or introduction of anti-discrimination legislation for sexual orientation in employment) reflects actions that pre-date the Recommendation.

Where actions have been taken since its adoption, they are often not part of any coherent overall plan. In some situations, laws or high-level policies exist in a vacuum, with no detailed implementation programme involving guidelines, codes of conduct, training, wider awareness-raising or data collection. In others, there is the occasional action, such as a training course which reaches a few police officers, but no overall policy and plan of the sort clearly indicated by the Recommendation.

A striking illustration of the need for a coherent approach is a lack of complaints in most of the countries where there is applicable anti-discrimination or hate crimes legislation. In the case of hate crimes, for example, these laws are not backed up with measures to ensure that the police recognise a sexual orientation or gender identity related bias motive and that they treat LGBT people with respect, nor with measures to raise awareness in the LGBT community and provide accessible mechanisms for reporting such crimes. As a result, LGBT people neither feel safe to make complaints nor are empowered to do so.

Transgender rights are a particular concern. Few of the countries studied have taken any steps to provide protection from discrimination on grounds of gender identity. Perhaps even more disturbingly, in the areas of legal gender recognition, and access to health, which are so critical for the well-being of transgender persons, official policies often violate basic human rights principles. In only one of the 16 countries is legal gender recognition even close to being available in "a quick, transparent and accessible way", as prescribed by the Recommendation, while in no fewer than 13 invasive medical procedures, including frequently sterilisation, are a requirement for such recognition. Moreover, where transgender persons need to undergo reassignment treatment, in many of the countries reviewed the procedures and medical facilities are either inadequate or not available, and/or there is a failure to meet the costs of such treatment under public health insurance schemes in a manner that is proportionate and non-discriminatory.

If there has been little progress generally in implementing the Recommendation, it is even more disturbing that in some of the countries reviewed steps are being taken which directly contravene its provisions and, indeed, wider human rights obligations. This is most obvious in the case of the Russian Federation, where LGBT freedom of assembly events are routinely banned, numerous regional assemblies have introduced laws prohibiting so called "propaganda for homosexuality", and similar legislation was supported almost unopposed at first reading in the State Duma in January 2013; and Ukraine, where in October 2012 the national parliament supported "propaganda for homosexuality" legislation at first reading without the opposition of a single Member of Parliament.

But developments in these countries must be contrasted with the hopeful signs coming from countries such as Portugal, Montenegro, Italy, Poland and Serbia, where the research shows that plans involving a structured approach to combating sexual orientation and gender identity

discrimination are under way, or at least being considered. Montenegro, particularly, must be commended for the initiatives that have been started in a range of areas. It is significant that Montenegro, Italy, Poland and Serbia are participating in a Council of Europe led project on implementation of the Recommendation. It is also a positive sign that national human rights structures are increasingly willing to support the rights of LGBT people. Recent actions by the current and previous Public Defender in Georgia and by the Commissioners for Human Rights in the Russian Federation and Ukraine have been encouraging.

These positive developments are no more than a beginning in what will inevitably be a long process. It is essential that implementation of the Recommendation be made a greater priority by member states, and that the Council of Europe be enabled to play a stronger role, both in supporting implementation and in reviewing progress.

### **The Recommendation**

The operative text of the Recommendation includes five main requirements: a review of existing measures to eliminate any discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, introduction of comprehensive and effective legislative and other measures to combat such discrimination, collection and analysis of relevant data, ensuring that victims have access to effective legal remedies, and ensuring that the recommendation is translated and disseminated as widely as possible.

# Reviews of existing legislative and other measures which could result in sexual orientation or gender identity discrimination (1 i):

These have been, or are being, conducted to a greater or lesser extent in only five of the countries studied, Italy, Montenegro, Poland, Portugal and Serbia.

#### Adoption of legislative measures (comprehensive anti-discrimination laws) (2 i):

Only Bosnia-Herzegovina, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Lithuania, Montenegro, Romania and Serbia have adopted comprehensive anti-discrimination laws <u>explicitly covering the ground of sexual</u> <u>orientation</u>.<sup>5</sup> Cyprus, Estonia, Georgia, Italy, Macedonia<sup>6</sup>, Poland, and Portugal have introduced legislation providing protection from discrimination in employment (in the case of EU member states, consistent with their obligations under EU law).

In Macedonia there is also specific legislation covering aspects of health and education. However, as recently as 2010, proposals to include sexual orientation in the new comprehensive Law on Prevention and Protection against Discrimination were rejected. In Ukraine proposals to include sexual orientation in the non-discrimination article of the Code of Labour Laws were rejected in Parliament in 2011.<sup>7</sup> The Russian Federation has no specific legislation providing protection from discrimination on the ground of sexual orientation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Lithuania's Law on Equal Treatment extends the principle of equal treatment to the fields of employment and vocational training, provision of goods and services, education, and to the activities of State and municipal institutions and agencies, but it only covers the areas of social security, healthcare and housing indirectly through an article on consumer protection. <sup>6</sup> The Macedonian Labour Relations Act uses the term "sexual inclination" rather than "sexual orientation"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ukraine Summary Report, Appendix, Section vi., Employment

Only the Czech Republic, Hungary, Montenegro and Serbia have introduced comprehensive antidiscrimination legislation which <u>explicitly addresses the ground of gender identity</u>.<sup>8</sup> In addition, Estonia's Gender Equality Act has been interpreted by the Gender Equality and Equal Treatment Commissioner to include gender identity. However, it should be noted that other EU member states have an obligation under EU law to provide comprehensive protection from discrimination on this ground, an obligation to which they have not given explicit effect.<sup>9</sup>

#### Adoption of other measures (strategies, action plans, awareness raising etc) (2 ii):

Of the countries studied, only Portugal has implemented plans for combating sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination. The  $4^{th}$  National Plan for Equality – Gender, Citizenship and Non-Discrimination (2011 – 2013) includes four measures in relation to sexual orientation and gender identity: a campaign on non-discrimination, awareness-raising of strategic professionals, awareness raising among young people, and availability of related materials in public libraries.

There are also positive signs in four other countries, all of which are participating in the Council of Europe project on the implementation of the Recommendation. Montenegro has established a Governmental Working Group, which includes NGO representatives, as part of its work on developing its *Strategy against homophobia and transphobia*.<sup>10</sup> In Italy the remit of the National Office against Racial Elimination (UNAR) has been extended to cover sexual orientation and gender identity.<sup>11</sup> It has conducted a review of existing legislation and other measures, is monitoring sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination, and undertaking some awareness-raising. In Poland the recently established governmental Plenipotentiary for Equal Treatment is developing a National Action Plan, preparation of which has included consultations with LGBT activists.<sup>12</sup> In Serbia, work started on drafting a National Anti-Discrimination strategy in April 2012, with one of a number of thematic working groups addressing the position of LGBT people.

On the other hand, opportunities to implement a systematic approach have not been taken up in some countries. For example, in the case of Macedonia, there appears to have been a deliberate decision by the authorities to exclude sexual orientation and gender identity from its 2012 – 2015 National Strategy for Equality and Non-Discrimination.<sup>13</sup> In Ukraine, the Plan of Actions on Developing Civic Culture and Raising Level of Tolerance in the Society adopted in April 2012 makes no mention of sexual orientation or gender identity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina's Law on Prohibition of Discrimination includes prohibition of discrimination on the grounds of "sex, sexual expression (expression of sex) or orientation". While there may have been an expectation that this would address gender identity, "sexual expression" does not cover the concept of "gender identity".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Gender Recast Directive, Directive 2006/54/EC, introduced an explicit reference in relation to discrimination based on 'gender reassignment': Recital 3 of the Preamble of this Directive codifies the Court of Justice of the European Union's *P. v S.* decision by stating that "The Court of Justice has held that the scope of the principle of equal treatment for men and women cannot be confined to the prohibition of discrimination based on the fact that a person is of one or other sex. In view of its purpose and the nature of the rights which it seeks to safeguard, it also applies to discrimination arising from the gender reassignment of a person". Two years before, Directive 2004/113/EC expanded the scope of application of the principle of equal treatment between men and women to access to and supply of goods and services. Although it does not mention discrimination based on gender identity in its text, the Council of the European Union and the Commission referred to the CJEU case-law in an associated document, indicating that transgender people are to be protected under its scope.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Montenegro Summary Report, Executive Summary, and IV Findings – Recommendation;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Italy Summary Report, Executive Summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Poland Summary Report, Executive Summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Macedonia Summary Report, IV Findings, the Recommendation

#### Collection and analysis of relevant data (Recommendation, 1, and Appendix, 5 i-iii):<sup>14</sup>

Regarding data on hate crimes and discriminatory incidents, only three of the countries studied take any action: Montenegro has recently established a system for recording of sexual orientation and gender identity discriminatory incidents, using the office of the Ombudsman. Lithuania collects such information in relation to sexual orientation related criminal offences, but not gender identity. In Poland systems for recording and publishing data on hate crimes and hate motivated incidents do not exist, but the Ombudsperson has taken measures to allow for the systematic collection and presentation of data in relation to discrimination on these grounds.

In the case of more general research into the nature and causes of negative attitudes, and surveys of social acceptance, there has been some (if often very limited) activity in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, Montenegro, Poland and Portugal. In Romania the National Council for Combating Discrimination conducts an annual survey on discrimination, which, it reports, shows that LGBT people face the highest level of prejudice.

#### Effective legal remedies (3 i-iv):

In the countries studied, full access to *effective* legal remedies is in most cases very problematic. In many this reflects the absence of laws addressing discrimination, hate crimes and hate speech on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity. But it also reflects the fact that, even where such laws exist, they are little used. This is not from lack of need, but because little or no action is taken to encourage victims to make use of them; and because, in the face of often pervasive discriminatory attitudes, many LGBT people are reluctant to identify publicly as such, and trust law-enforcement agencies neither to treat them with respect nor to implement laws effectively.

#### Translation and dissemination of the Recommendation (5 i-iii):

Of the countries studied, Hungary, Italy, Montenegro and Poland prepared official translations of the Recommendation. Estonia and Lithuania stated, in response to enquiries, that they have made translations, but none was available to the researchers. In the Czech Republic, the Recommendation, but not its Appendix, was translated. So far as dissemination is concerned, only Italy, Montenegro, Poland and Serbia<sup>15</sup> appear to have made any efforts in this regard.

"According to a Gallup survey conducted in 2010, 64.1% of BiH citizens think that homosexual relations are wrong" <sup>16</sup>

"One of the findings of the Eurobarometer 2012 on perceptions of discrimination in the EU, is that only 2% of Romanians are aware to have ever met a LGBT person." <sup>17</sup>

"Regular legal remedies do exist, but they are not effective..... LGBT people still have little confidence in the work of judiciary and security institutions and are unwilling to report cases of violence and discrimination.... Non-governmental reports demonstrate that, in most of the cases, the courts had either not initiated any legal actions or have endlessly put off the completion of such cases... The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Collection of data was addressed both in the first paragraph of the Recommendation proper, and in paragraph 4 of the Appendix. In the Compliance Documentation Report format, the information is presented under the latter heading. <sup>15</sup>A translation of the Recommendation into Serbian has been prepared by the Council of Europe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina Summary Report, IV – Findings – The Recommendation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Romania Compliance Documentation Report – Appendix – paragraph 26 - Right to respect for private and family life

state authorities' actions have not contributed to the prevention of discriminatory conduct or encouraged the victims to turn to them for help." <sup>18</sup>

"It was common for agencies and authorities contacted to postulate that, since there is little to no indication of 'complaints' or issues raised, there is no issue of discrimination, or that no discrimination occurs."<sup>19</sup>

### **Appendix to Recommendation**

#### i. Right to life, security and protection from violence

#### a. "Hate crimes" and other hate-motivated incidents

The key recommendations in Section I.A of the Appendix cover specific measures to ensure: an effective, prompt and impartial investigation into alleged cases of homophobic and transphobic crimes and other incidents; that a bias motive related to sexual orientation or gender identity may be taken into account as an aggravating circumstance; that victims and witnesses of such hate crimes and incidents are encouraged to report them; the safety and dignity of LGBT persons in prison or other forms of detention.

#### Effective, prompt and impartial investigations (1 i):

Training is identified in the Explanatory Memorandum as a key means of achieving this objective. Some training of police has taken place in eight countries, but is tentative and limited in scope. In Cyprus, the first and apparently only training session on discrimination to include LGBT issues was conducted in December 2010, addressing over 70 officers of varying ranks. In Hungary some training on sexual orientation and gender identity was provided to police officers, but reached only a limited number of them. In Italy training for police forces on homophobic and transphobic crimes was apparently made a priority for 2012, but there does not appear to be an official policy document explicitly including this objective, and there is a lack of information regarding the content and timing of the training. In Macedonia, specific training on these issues was included in the academic curriculum of the Faculty of Security – Skopje, though not apparently elsewhere. In Montenegro, with the support of the Police Directorate, the NGO Juventas has conducted training and a survey of 245 police officers, which showed the necessity of constant education of police officers on the human rights of LGBT people. In Poland, mainly due to the network of police Commissioners for the Protection of Human Rights, LGBT topics are slowly being introduced into training programmes, although a lack of evaluation makes it impossible to determine clearly how far the content of training courses has translated into a change of attitudes and working practices. In Romania, the only reference to sexual orientation is in a training programme provided by the Institute of Studies for Public Order, but again there was no evidence of outcomes. In Serbia it seems that some element of training has recently been undertaken, although offers by the organisation Labris, author of the Serbia report, to help with such training in 2012, came to nothing. In the other countries studied there was little or no evidence of specific training in relation to these issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Serbia Summary Report, IV – Findings – the Recommendation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Cyprus Summary Report, I - Executive Summary

#### Bias motive as an aggravating circumstance (2 i-ii):

Of the countries studied, Georgia, Lithuania, Portugal, Romania and Serbia have legislation which explicitly allows for sexual orientation to be taken into account as an aggravating circumstance, as do the entities Republika Srpska and District Brcko within Bosnia-Herzegovina, but not that of the Federation of Bosnia-Herzegovina. Only Georgia and Serbia similarly allow for gender identity.

In Hungary the police and courts, as a matter of practice, treat sexual orientation and gender identity bias motives as aggravating circumstances, and from July 2013 the Criminal Code will be amended to include these grounds explicitly. In the other countries there are no such provisions, although in Estonia and Montenegro government supported proposals are pending.

Encourage reporting by victims and witnesses (3 i-vi): The research found very little evidence of relevant measures, such as training to provide victims and witnesses with adequate assistance and support, dissemination to the general public of a simple and comprehensible definition of "hate crimes" in respect of sexual orientation and gender identity (only in Portugal, the document itself being prepared by an NGO), or police liaison officers tasked with maintaining contact with local LGBT communities (there was some evidence of positive links in Montenegro and Poland).

Ensuring the safety of LGBT persons in prison or detention (4 i-iv): The researchers found little evidence of prison staff codes of conduct or training specifically addressing the treatment of LGBT prisoners. Amongst rare exceptions were codes of conduct that govern the treatment of prisoners in the Czech Republic and Lithuania which referenced sexual orientation, and training of prison officials in Italy, which is reported to have addressed sexual orientation and gender identity issues. There was also scant evidence of any specific measures to protect and respect the gender identity of transgender persons when in prison.

"The offices of the Novi Sad Lesbian Organization were violently attacked more than 10 times in 2011, and nobody was prosecuted even though the police had the attackers caught on tape, by the video surveillance system."<sup>20</sup>

"In 2006, 6 gay pride participants were beaten ... by a group of young men. They filed a complaint to the police, provided pictures of the perpetrators, allegedly identified at the police station two of [them] ...... They did not hear back from the police. In reply to 3 info requests ..... police said the case was still pending. In August 2011 .... the police responded that ..they [had) forwarded to the prosecutor the proposal to close the case because of the 5 years statute of limitations."<sup>21</sup>

[In 2011] Lisunov attacked Kostuchenko during the gay parade and inflicted bodily injuries as a" result of which Kostuchenko had to spend a week in hospital. ...the senior examining magistrate .... informed Kostuchenko's spokesman about closure of the criminal case against Lisunov due to the absence of characteristics of a legally defined crime ...."<sup>22</sup>

"A survey .... revealed that in 2010/2011 41% of those polled experienced harassment from ordinary citizens .... Of those who contacted the police, and whose sexual orientation was known to or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Serbia Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix I.A "Hate crimes" and other hate motivated incidents - paragraph 3 <sup>21</sup> Romania Compliance Documentation Report – Appendix I.A "Hate crimes" and other hate motivated incidents paragraph 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Russia Summary Report, Appendix, Section i a

suspected by the police, 77% experienced infringement of their rights by the police. "<sup>23</sup>

".... of 136 participants [in a survey], 15% reported having experienced physical violence and 57% ... psychological violence because of their sexual orientation. ... none reported these incidents to the police, citing mistrust of the police force, and lack of awareness of rights as the main reasons..."<sup>24</sup>

".. there were sex abuses in prisons conducted by inmates and ignored by the guards; the complaint procedures in case of rape were not efficient; homosexuals were discriminated against by their fellow inmates and this treatment was tolerated by the management; there was no possibility for trans people to be accommodated with inmates having the same gender identity [nor] to continue hormonal treatment while imprisoned."<sup>25</sup>

#### b. "Hate speech"

Section I.B. of the Appendix requires measures to combat "hate speech" on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, including laws prohibiting such "hate speech", promotion of good practice within media organisations and by internet service providers, public disavowal of such speech by government officials, guidelines to government officials to refrain from such speech and to promote respect for the human rights of LGBT people.

#### Laws prohibiting "hate speech" (6 i):

In the countries studied the position regarding laws penalising "hate speech" is weak. Lithuania, Portugal and Romania have laws penalising sexual orientation "hate speech" (although it seems that the Romanian law has never been applied), but not that related to gender identity. Estonia has legislation covering both sexual orientation and gender identity, but the law is relatively ineffectual, as it applies only if there is a danger to life, health or property. From July 2013 Hungary will include sexual orientation and gender identity in its new Criminal Code under the crime of incitement against a community, but the law is restricted to incidents involving a clear and present danger of violence, so again, is of limited application. In Serbia, hate speech legislation does not explicitly include sexual orientation and gender identity, although such hate speech is explicitly forbidden by the Anti-Discrimination Law. The remaining countries have no legislation.

**Good practices within media organisations and by internet service providers (6 ii):** In Italy, the relevant legislation on television broadcasting explicitly states that audio-visual commercial communications cannot include or promote any discrimination based on sexual orientation, while Ukraine's law *On Television and Radio Broadcasting* obliges broadcasting companies to maintain certain standards regarding various social groups, including sexual minorities. Montenegro has similar provisions covering both print media and electronic media. Romania's Audiovisual Law and Audiovisual Code ban the use of sexual orientation related hate speech in broadcast programmes. Serbia's Law on Broadcasting and Law on Public Information prohibit hate speech based on sexual orientation, although this has not stopped exposure of the LGBT population to hate speech.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ukraine Summary Report – Appendix, Section i. a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Cyprus Summary Report, Appendix, Section i. a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Romania Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, I.A "Hate Crimes" and other hate motivated incidents – paragraph 4

In Bosnia-Herzegovina the Press Council's guidelines on professional standards include gender identity, gender expression and sexual orientation in the non-discrimination article. It has also adopted a *Recommendation for media treatment of gender issues in media* which makes recommendations, through editorial policy, to assure respect for equality based on a number of characteristics including gender identity, gender expression and sexual orientation. In the Czech Republic, the Code of Ethics for journalists stipulates that a journalist "may neither create nor depict an issue inciting discrimination of a race, colour, religion, sex, or sexual orientation." However, in the other countries under review, there was little evidence of good practice.

In Cyprus a recent legal reform proposal by the Cyprus Radio and Television Authority includes specific points safeguarding respect of sexual orientation and gender identity within the broadcasting framework, but remains to be ratified by the House of Representatives.

#### Measures specifically regarding the Internet (6 iii-iv):

The internet is of particular concern, as in many of the countries under review it is used extensively to disseminate homophobic and transphobic hate speech. In Georgia, for example, a group called "a brigade fighting against pederasts" has published at its website a video of LGBT community representatives being beaten. An accompanying statement reads "that's what they deserve", and "mistakes of nature should be murdered", while a related chat page includes discussion of the preferred method of killing LGBT people. The website was referred to the Chief Prosecutor of Georgia in July 2012, but to date no action has been taken.<sup>26</sup>

In almost all the countries studied, there is little or no evidence of steps by the authorities to address this problem. In Portugal the Regulatory Authority for the Media found four national newspapers guilty of exceeding limits to be respected by the media. They had allowed the posting of comments on an article relating to the murder of a known gay journalist which incited to hatred and violence on grounds of sexual orientation. In Lithuania, following a rapid increase from 2007 onwards in investigations of homophobic hate speech on the internet, several public events have been held which brought together representatives of the digital media, the Journalist Ethics Inspectorate Office, and NGOs. In Serbia the daily newspaper "Press" was successfully prosecuted for allowing hate speech in readers' comments on its news portal, although other measures have not been taken in this field.

# Specific measures to raise awareness of public authorities/institutions of their responsibility to refrain from statements legitimising hatred or discrimination against LGBT persons and promote tolerance (7 i-ii, 8 i-ii):

In none of the countries under study was there any indication that such measures had been taken. Moreover, in many of the countries studied reactions by the state or its representatives when public figures made statements legitimising hatred or discrimination against LGBT persons were nonexistent or rare. Examples where there was little or no evidence of any such reaction are as follows: in Cyprus, when a member of the House of Representatives likened homosexuality to bestiality and paedophilia during a live radio broadcast in 2010; in Bosnia-Herzegovina, when the Head of the Presidency stated in a magazine in October 2010 "we have to fight with all moral means against those who want to pervert high moral society. Everyone has the right to live his life as he pleases,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Georgia report, Appendix 4, case #18. Hate speech on Internet

but no right to represent to youth perverted things as normal, as they call it." Or in Ukraine, when in 2011/2012, Lviv, Ternopil, Ivano-Frankivsk city councils, and Lviv, Volyn and Rivne regional councils appealed to the President to revoke the registration of the Council of LGBT Organisations of Ukraine, forbid gay pride events, and "to fight against homosexualism".

Regarding the Russian Federation, a report commissioned for the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights commented that "acts of hate speech in relation to homosexual, bisexual and transgender persons remain virtually unpunished."<sup>27</sup> It cited the refusal of a Moscow district prosecutor's office to start a criminal case against Talgat Tadjuddin, the Chairman of the Central Muslim Spiritual Board of Russia, who had said, in a public statement opposing the proposed 2007 Gay Pride march, "if they still come out on the street, they just should be beaten. All normal people would do that ..... Gays have no rights." The Prosecutor's Office, in its decision, referred to an expert opinion of a professor at the Family, Sociology and Demography Department of Moscow State University, to the effect that "sexual minorities are not a social group, much less a gender-defined social group, they are part of the deviant social group together with criminals, drug addicts and other individuals with deviant behaviour."<sup>28</sup> A request to bring a criminal case against the Governor of the Tambov Region following his statement that "faggots must be torn apart and their pieces should be thrown in the wind" was also dismissed on the grounds that "the experts did not consider the statement abusive and gave a conclusion that homosexual persons were not a social group and could not be considered subject to incitement of hatred or enmity."<sup>29</sup> The Russian Federation is now defending this decision in a case before the European Court of Human Rights.<sup>30</sup>

The report on Serbia draws attention to another aspect of hate speech where the authorities take insufficient action, namely homophobic graffiti, which are widespread across the country. The Provincial Ombudsman and the Provincial Gender Equality Institute mapped graffiti in Novi Sad in May 2011. 224 were documented, of which 56% were hate speech against LGBT people such as: "Death to gays", "Gays to Concentration Camps", "Kill the Faggot!", "Only a dead faggot is a good faggot". Most dated from the period when Pride Parades were scheduled in 2009 and 2010 and most are still visible, despite the fact that the Provincial Ombudsman sent the data to the relevant city authorities, recommending their removal.

"[At the Budapest Pride March in June 2011] a group of activists ..... held up signs calling for the extermination of gays .... and shouting "Dirty faggots, dirty faggots!"..... the authorities argued that the incidents did not constitute incitement to hatred as "holding up the signs might have incited hatred, but not active hatred" and thus the incident "does not reach the minimum level of criminal sanctioning".<sup>31</sup>

"Let's think about our state. I don't care what Europe thinks about. What is happening on the streets of our cities is much more important. So I, of course, support adoption of this law [prohibiting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> "Study on Homophobia, Transphobia and Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity – Legal Report: Russian Federation" paragraph 86

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> "Study on Homophobia, Transphobia and Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity – Sociological Report: Russian Federation" paragraph 99, and "Study on Homophobia, Transphobia and Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity – Legal Report: Russian Federation" paragraphs 119 – 122

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> "Study on Homophobia, Transphobia and Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity – Legal Report: Russian Federation", paragraph 126

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Alekseyev et al v. Russia (Appn 39954/09)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Hungary – Summary Report – Appendix, Section ii, "Hate speech"

"propaganda of homosexualism"]. All these gay parades must be scattered, burnt down". (Mr Serhiy Kyi, a Ukrainian MP from the ruling Party of the Regions) <sup>32</sup>

### ii. Freedom of association

Section II of the Appendix requires member states to take appropriate measures to ensure that: LGBT organisations can gain official registration and are able to operate freely; are able to access public funding earmarked for NGOs without discrimination; are protected effectively from hostility and aggression; and are consulted on the adoption and implementation of measures affecting the rights of LGBT persons.

#### Gain official registration and operate freely (9 i-iii):

In all but one of the countries studied LGBT organisations are able to obtain registration, and to operate freely. In the Russian Federation, a number of LGBT organisations have been refused registration. The refusal to register the Tyumen organisation, "Radujniy dom" ("Rainbow House") is the subject of a complaint to the European Court of Human Rights,<sup>33</sup> which the Russian authorities are defending on a number of grounds including that the organisation's "propaganda of untraditional sexual orientations" might undermine the safety of Russia, its government, its sovereignty and territorial integrity and its population, as well as provoking social and religious hatred and threatening the institutions of marriage and the stability of the family.<sup>34</sup>

In three other countries - Cyprus, Poland and Ukraine - registration of LGBT organisations can take considerably longer than would normally be expected. In the case of Cyprus, the registration of accept-LGBT Cyprus, the co-author of the study on that country, took almost 12 months. The authorities consulted the Greek Orthodox Church, and appeared overzealous in examining the registered premises and the people associated with the organisation. In the case of Ukraine, in 2010 an organisation had to resubmit its application after reducing the references to LGBT people.

#### Access to public funding without discrimination (10 i-ii):

While in theory access without discrimination exists in most countries, it is difficult to judge how far this applies in practice.

#### Effective protection from hostility and aggression (11 i-iv):

While there continue to be serious concerns, these relate mostly to the context of freedom of assembly or other large-scale events, and are dealt with under that heading. In the case of Bosnia-Herzegovina it was reported that protection has improved since violent attacks on the Queer Sarajevo Festival in 2008. In Macedonia, following an attack on the LGBTI Support Centre on 23 October 2012, the police played an active role in protection and in calming the local community. In the case of Montenegro, it is reported that protection has been provided when requested. In the Russian Federation a recent practice of providing some protection for members of LGBT organisations during their activities is a positive development, although it is not applied in all regions, and is not always effective. In Serbia there has recently been significant progress in the way

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Ukraine, Summary Report – Appendix, Section i.b "Hate speech"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Alexander Zhdanov and Rainbow House v. Russia (12200/08)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Russia Summary Report – Appendix, Section ii. Freedom of Association

the police react to violence and threats of violence against LGBT human rights defenders, including effectively securing premises of organisations and events.

#### Consultation on measures affecting the rights of LGBT people (12 i-ii):

In most of the countries studied, it is clear that the authorities do not actively support LGBT organisations, and do not recognise work on combating discrimination against LGBT people as important. This was reflected in the extent of consultation and involvement of LGBT organisations in the implementation of relevant public policies. In Ukraine, outside the field of HIV/AIDS prevention, only one case was known where the authorities had consulted LGBT organisations, and their proposals (in relation to anti-discrimination legislation) were rejected, as indeed have all other proposals made by them before or since. In Romania, there has not been a single example of consultation in the last three years. In Georgia and Lithuania, LGBT NGOs are rarely consulted, while in Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Italy, Hungary and Macedonia, involvement in consultation processes produce little or nothing in the way of results.

This has been true also for Poland, although meetings with the Plenipotentiary for Equal Treatment on the draft *National Program for Equal Treatment*, and quarterly meetings of LGBT organisations with the Ombudsperson, are positive signs.

Montenegro and Portugal provide very positive examples by comparison with the other countries studied. There are also recent and encouraging developments in Serbia, where LGBT organisations were consulted on the Anti-Discrimination Law, and are involved in the process of drafting the National Anti-Discrimination Strategy, and in a working group on transgender issues established by the Commissioner for the Protection of Equality.

### iii Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

Section III of the Appendix requires member states to guarantee freedom of expression and peaceful assembly to LGBT people, ensuring the freedom to receive and transmit information on sexual orientation and gender identity, encouraging pluralism and non-discrimination in the media, protection of lawful assemblies, and condemnation by public authorities of any interference with the exercise of the right to freedom of expression and peaceful assembly by LGBT people.

#### Freedom of expression

#### Ensure the freedom to receive and transmit information (13 i-iii):

In three countries, the Russian Federation, Ukraine and Lithuania there are serious concerns with regard to freedom of expression.

In the Russian Federation, a number of regional assemblies have adopted laws banning "homosexual propaganda to minors" including Arkhangelsk, Kaliningrad,<sup>35</sup> Kostroma, Ryazan, St. Petersburg, Krasnodar, Samara, Novosibirsk, Magadan and the Republic of Bashkortostan. A proposal for such a law in the State Duma was supported at first reading in January 2013 by an overwhelming majority,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> "Propaganda of homosexualism" among adults was prohibited in Kaliningrad, Russia" - media release by the Russian LGBT Network, 24 January 2013

with only one vote against, and one abstention.<sup>36</sup> The State Duma Committee on Family, Women and Children has proposed the following definition of propaganda: "holding public events with participation of homosexuals in places accessible for children, public appeals and approval of homosexual relationships on TV and radio during times available for children". The Committee justifies the proposed law as follows: "Propaganda of homosexualism has become widely spread in Russia: gay-parades, demonstrations, programmes supporting homosexual relationships broadcasted over all the TV and radio channels during daytime. Such a broad spreading propaganda of homosexualism harms the forming children's personalities, dissolves their conception of family as a relationship of a man and a woman, and practically creates a situation of limited freedom for their future sexual preferences before they come of age." <sup>37</sup>

In Ukraine three separate draft laws seeking to prohibit "propaganda of homosexualism" have been introduced into Parliament in the last two years. One of these, Draft Law No 0945,<sup>38</sup> proposes to ban any production, printing, publication or distribution of products "promoting" homosexuality, the use of media, TV or radio broadcasting for homosexuality "promotion", the import, production or distribution of creative writings, cinematography or video materials "promoting" homosexuality. Such activities would be subject variously to fines or prison sentences of up to five years. At its first reading in the Ukrainian parliament in October 2012, 289 MPs voted in favour, one abstained, and none opposed.

There are also concerns over the activities of an advisory body, the National Expert Commission on the Protection of Public Morals. In recent years it has invoked a provision regarding protection of the health of the population to persuade the relevant authorities to place restrictions on LGBT material, for example, the banning of the film *Bruno* in Ukrainian cinemas, and the broadcasting of the film *Brokeback Mountain* only after 11 p.m.

In Lithuania the media have gradually started to present LGBT issues in a more respectful and objective way. However, this has not been a consequence of any attempt by public authorities to encourage pluralism and non-discrimination. On the contrary, a number of legislative initiatives have sought to limit LGBT people's right to freedom of expression, including amendments to three laws, the Law on the Protection of Minors against Detrimental Effect of Public Information ("the Law on the Protection of Minors"), the Code of Administrative Violations, and the Law on the Provision of Information to the Public. While the overtly discriminatory wording of some of these amendments was mitigated in the face of protests both from within Lithuania and abroad, provisions designed to restrict the rights of LGBT people remained. Thus, the Law on the Protection of Minors recognises information as having detrimental effects if it "expresses contempt for family values" or "encourages the concept of entry into a marriage and creation of a family other than stipulated in the Constitution of the Republic of Lithuania and the Civil Code of the Republic of Lithuania". The Law on the Provision of Information in Public still contains the prohibition of advertising and audio-visual communication that could be regarded as "offensive to religious or political beliefs".

In Romania, local authorities in several cities insisted on the removal of billboards promoting the message that homosexuality is neither an illness nor a choice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> E-mail message from the Russian LGBT Network dated 25 January 2013. Of the 390 members of the State Duma present, 388 supported the measure. 52 were not present.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Russia Summary Report, Appendix, Section iii, Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Formerly Draft Law 8711

Serbia, however, has seen a very positive development. The new comprehensive Anti-Discrimination Law includes a provision that "Everyone shall have the right to declare his/her sexual orientation, and discriminatory treatment on account of such a declaration shall be forbidden."

In the other countries studied the authorities have neither, with relatively minor exceptions, interfered with the freedom of expression of LGBT people, nor taken any positive measures to ensure it. Thus, in general, no measures are taken to ensure an attitude of pluralism and non-discrimination in media reporting of LGBT issues. This matters because LGBT concerns are often not mainstreamed in general news reporting, being relegated to sensationalist forms of journalism that are homophobic or transphobic in tone. In Hungary a survey among LGBT persons in 2010 found that 91% of respondents agreed with the statement that "the media shows a distorted image of LGBT people." In the same country, media have a duty to respond to the needs of social minorities, but this does not explicitly include LGBT people.

"... in the context of a wider anti-discrimination campaign ... Public Service Announcement (PSA) radio spots were produced, targeting discrimination based on grounds such as age, ethnicity, and sexual orientation. The ....Cyprus Broadcasting Corporation..... refused to air the radio spot .. on sexual orientation.... [it] appears to adhere to an implicit policy whereby transmission, expression and/or news reporting on events, issues or incidents relating to LGBT are being suppressed." <sup>39</sup>

#### Freedom of assembly

#### Ensure the right to freedom of assembly, including protection of lawful assemblies (14, 15):

In the countries studied the position with regard to enjoyment of freedom of assembly by LGBT people is very mixed, with prohibition of assemblies in three since the adoption of the Recommendation, and serious concerns over the dangers involved in many more, particularly in the light of the failure of police in some countries to provide adequate protection.

In the Russian Federation, the situation is disturbing. In recent years Pride and other events in many Russian cities have been repeatedly banned. In September 2010 the European Court of Human Rights held unanimously that the Russian Federation had violated the right to freedom of assembly when banning events in Moscow in 2006, 2007, and 2008.<sup>40</sup> Despite this, such prohibitions have continued. In September 2012, when reviewing the record of the Russian authorities with regard to applications to hold such freedom of assembly events since 2010, the Committee of Ministers noted that "only a very limited number of such events could effectively take place" and that "in the vast majority of cases, the competent authorities, in particular in Moscow, refused to agree the time and place for such events".<sup>41</sup>

In Serbia, Pride events were banned in 2009, 2011 and 2012, in the face of threats of violence by extremist organisations. The decisions to ban the 2011 and 2012 events were not communicated to the organisers, who only learned of them from the media. As a consequence, access to normal legal remedies was denied, leaving an appeal to the Constitutional Court as the only remedy in the domestic courts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Cyprus Summary Report, Appendix, Section iii - Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Alexeyev v. Russia (4916/07)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Committee of Ministers – 1150th meeting – 26 September 2012 - Decision on case no. 16 – Alekseyev

In three countries, Cyprus, Macedonia and Montenegro, no large-scale events in public places that would test the position have been organised, reflecting concerns (at least in Macedonia and Montenegro) about the degree of hostility such events might meet. Plans for a Pride event in Montenegro in 2011 were cancelled due to fears for the safety of participants, following lack of support by government officials. A concert in a private venue organised for International Day Against Homophobia ("IDAHO")<sup>42</sup> 2011 showed weaknesses in police management of the security risks, and raised concerns about their ability to handle a larger scale event. 18 months later the police have still provided no information to the organisers on the measures taken to identify and prosecute those responsible for throwing a tear gas bomb into the concert.

In Bosnia-Herzegovina, the first attempt at a significant public LGBT event, the 2008 Queer Sarajevo Festival, was met with widespread hate speech and violence. Despite a police presence, eight people attempting to enter the building for the opening ceremony were injured, and the festival had to be cancelled. Only relatively small-scale events have been held since and have been protected by the police when requested by the organisers.

In Georgia an attempt to hold a march on IDAHO day in 2012 was met with violence, despite the presence of police. The Chief Prosecutor failed to respond to calls for an investigation and the prosecution of the attackers under the provision of the Criminal Code by which a homophobic or transphobic bias motive can count as an aggravating factor.

In Ukraine events were banned in Mykolaiv (2009) and Kharkiv (2010) on the grounds of public opposition. In 2012 the Kiev City administration supported a peaceful march, cooperating with the organisers despite opposition from hostile groups. This did not however prevent the organisers from having to cancel the march when the police proved unwilling to provide protection. Two organisers of the march were beaten up. Neither aggression against peaceful assemblies of LGBT people, nor repeated statements by local councillors, mayors and MPs opposing such events, has been repudiated by the government.

In Lithuania the 2010 Baltic Pride march was initially banned, but went ahead following a ruling by the Supreme Administrative Court. A significant police presence was required to protect demonstrators from a large hostile crowd.

In Estonia Pride marches were held between 2004 and 2007. A number of participants were injured in 2007, and no Pride event has been held since, although a concert in 2011 passed off without incident.

Hungary has seen a deterioration in the exercise of freedom of assembly. For many years LGBT events encountered difficulties neither from the authorities nor from counter-demonstrators. However since 2007 heavy security measures have been needed to protect marchers from violence. The police have reacted by trying to ban marches, but have been overruled by the courts. Statements by city councillors or MPs opposing LGBT events have not been repudiated by the authorities.

In Poland, after repeated prohibitions of public events in the period from 2004 to 2005, and following judgments in the national courts and by the European Court of Human Rights, freedom of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> May 17<sup>th</sup>

assembly is generally guaranteed, although disproportionate restrictions relating to the route, or timing of marches are sometimes applied.

In Romania gay pride marches have been organised annually since 2005, together with various other cultural or political events. Each year a so-called Normality March organised by extreme right-wing groups is allowed to proceed, despite consistent use of slogans inciting discrimination and violence against LGBT people. On the positive side, law-enforcement agencies have ensured effective protection of LGBT march participants, and acted with respect towards them.

In the Czech Republic, Italy and Portugal freedom of assembly is generally enjoyed, although in the first two there have been cases where public authorities have made homophobic statements, or sought to limit the route of parades or the use of public meeting places.

# Condemnation by public authorities of interferences with the right to exercise freedom of expression and peaceful assembly (17 i-iii):

In general, it is relatively rare for public authorities to condemn unlawful interferences with the right to freedom of assembly, or to uphold this right in the face of public hostility. Indeed, in a number of countries where the right to freedom of assembly is exercised by LGBT people, senior public figures continue to express hostility to Pride events.

*"In 2011 [President Václav Klaus] criticised the Mayor of Prague and the embassies of 13 countries for supporting the Prague Pride, considering such parades as demonstrations of "homosexualism" ideology, and marking LGBT people as "deviants".*<sup>43</sup>

"A homosexual is a sick person. Why should these sick people demonstrate their illness to other people? But they do demonstrate it and, moreover, they even try to arrange Pride marches". "When the deviation percentage reaches beyond 7% the whole society is in danger. The promotion of homosexualism puts Russian people at threat of extinction." (Elena Babich, a former member of Saint-Petersburg Legislative Assembly).<sup>44</sup>

# iv. Respect for private and family life (excluding specific transgender issues) (Section IV, paras 18, 19, and 23 – 27 of the Appendix)

These paragraphs of Section IV of the Appendix address criminalisation of same-sex sexual acts, collection of personal data, and discrimination in access to the rights of couples and parenting.

#### Criminal law and collection of personal data (18 i-iii and 19 i-iii):

In the countries studied there is no evidence of any provisions that continue specifically to criminalise same-sex sexual acts in a discriminatory manner. However, in Romania, the criminal code penalises "sexual perversion acts performed in public". Despite the fact that the High Court of Cassation and Justice has stated specifically that homosexual acts are not to be considered perversions, a gay man is currently under investigation for this offence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Czech Republic Summary Report, Appendix, Section iii - Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Russia – Summary Report – Section iii, Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

Regarding collection of personal data, there are serious concerns in the case of Ukraine and Georgia. In the former, it is reported that some police gather such data during investigations in relation to LGBT people, and sometimes use them for purposes of blackmail, or to "out" individuals to relatives or employers. The Ministry of Internal Affairs claims that such information is not gathered. Recently reports have also emerged of an abusive practice by some police officers. Acting as *agents provocateurs*, they are reported to approach gay men on internet social networks or dating websites and persuade them to disclose intimate photographs and/or offer to pay for sex. They then prosecute them for distribution of pornography or for prostitution, or seek to blackmail them.

In the case of Georgia, a new Law on Personal Data Protection adopted in December 2011 introduced a position of Data Inspector, and obliged employers (public and private) to collect and send personal information about its employees to the Inspector, including information about their sexual orientation. The law further authorised the inspector to process, analyse, store and release such data without prior consent of the individual concerned, provided that such action was "in the public interest." The law failed to define "public interest" or to provide other safeguards against the abuse of these powers. A former MP from the (then) ruling party stated: "A kindergarten or any medical centre shall have information about a person, whether she/he has AIDS, or a kindergarten shall have information about the sexual orientation of the person."

Also in the case of Georgia, since finalisation of the report on that country, allegations have been made by the Prosecutor's Office that, under the previous government, the Military Police made dozens of secret video recordings of "publicly well-known men" engaging in homosexual sex. It is alleged that these were then used to coerce the individuals concerned into supporting the government publicly, and, in some cases, for extortion.<sup>45</sup> The Prosecutor's Office has released video footage of some of the recordings. Although the images were blurred, the Georgian Public Defender has expressed concern that sufficient details remain for the individuals to be identified.<sup>46</sup>

"... while investigating the murder of a gay man, officers from Halytsky District Police Department in Lviv interrogated more than 300 men whom they suspected to be homosexual. Without their consent and in breach of procedural provisions those men were photographed and fingerprinted and their mobile phone address lists were copied. About ten people needed medical treatment as a consequence of their treatment by the police...There is no information on destruction of the data which were collected ...."

#### Access to the rights of unmarried couples (23 i):

Of the countries studied, Bosnia-Herzegovina, the Czech Republic, Georgia, Hungary, Macedonia, Montenegro, Portugal and Ukraine provide rights (to varying degrees) to such couples. However, of these, only the Czech Republic, Hungary and Portugal make these rights available to same-sex couples.<sup>48</sup> In Cyprus certain rights are available on an informal basis to unmarried couples planning to marry, however these are denied to same-sex couples. In Poland, unmarried partners are recognised when it comes to "next of kin" status, but the rules are often interpreted to exclude

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Prosecutor's Office Reports of Military Police Gay 'Honey Traps' – Civil.ge website – 15 January 2013 http://www.civil.ge/eng/article.php?id=25642

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> The Public Defender's statement is at: <u>http://www.ombudsman.ge/index.php?page=1001&lang=1&n=0&id=1627</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Ukraine Summary Report – Section iv. Respect for private and family life

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> In Italy courts have ruled in favour of same-sex couples in a number of areas. However, under Italy's legal system, such precedents are not legally binding. For more details, see the relevant section of the Italy Compliance Documentation Report.

same-sex couples. In Poland also, the Criminal Code, the Code of Criminal Procedure and the Criminal Executive Code include provisions whose content and method of application are discriminatory. Depending on interpretation, such terms as "a person in cohabitation" or "a person permanently residing and co-managing the household" may result in less favourable treatment when granting the right to refuse to testify, or visiting rights with a partner in prison.

Macedonia recently acted contrary to the Recommendation by excluding same-sex couples from provisions aimed at protecting couples that have or have had close personal relations from domestic violence.

"One of the partners applied for a social benefit ..... The response from the municipality was negative, stating that same-sex cohabitations are not considered families for the purposes of this local social benefit. The Chancellor of Justice found the refusal to be void as the decree regulating social benefits did not reserve it to married couples ....The local municipality then amended the decree so that it excluded same-sex cohabiting partnerships and rejected the couple's application again. The applicant turned to the court and the refusal was overturned by it."

# Access to legal recognition, and measures to address the practical problems faced by same-sex couples in the absence of such recognition (24 i and 25 i):

Of the countries studied, only three provide any legal recognition of same-sex couples: Portugal, which allows same-sex couples to marry, but excludes any parenting rights; Hungary, which has registered partnership rights equivalent to those of spouses in most areas except parenting, and the Czech Republic, where registered partnership provides only very limited rights. Of the remaining countries, none has taken any steps towards providing same-sex couples with legal or other means to address the practical problems arising from lack of legal recognition. However, in 2012 the Estonian authorities published a concept of a Cohabitation Act, which envisages provision for formal registration, and also for regulation of rights and obligations for certain unmarried and unregistered couples. In Montenegro the Institution of the Ombudsman has submitted a proposal for the adoption of a law on same-sex unions to the Parliament. In Poland, attempts to introduce registered partnership legislation in January 2013 were rejected by Parliament.<sup>50</sup>

In Poland, Civil Registry Offices often try to prevent the conclusion of same-sex unions by Polish citizens abroad, by refusing to issue a certificate stating the legal capacity to marry abroad, on the grounds that the wording of the Constitution provides only for the possibility of concluding a marriage between persons of different sex.<sup>51</sup> In Serbia there is evidence of similar problems.

# Decisions regarding the parental responsibility for, or guardianship of a child, to be taken without discrimination (26 i-ii):

In the countries studied, only in the Czech Republic and Portugal was there clear evidence of measures to ensure decisions in these areas were taken without discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity. In Poland there are positive signs, with the first judgments explicitly stressing that sexual orientation cannot be raised as an argument against awarding parental responsibility to a parent. However, by contrast, in Macedonia, a person publicly declared as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Estonia Summary Report –Section IV. Respect for private and family life (excluding specific transgender issues)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> E-mail message on behalf of the Board of the Campaign against Homophobia – 26 January 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Poland Summary Report, Appendix, Section iv, Respect for private and family life

transgender had her right to see her children revoked by the Centre for Social Affairs, a decision confirmed by the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs.

"I cannot see my children and I'm not sure if I will ever be able to see them again. As they are young, they will be taught that something is wrong with me, just because I'm a transgender person, so there will not be a possibility even in the future for me to see them. There is no protection in this country that can help us, the transgender persons. What is now happening to me with all the procedures and the attempt to make me guilty for things I have never done is just unacceptable..." <sup>52</sup>

## Where national law permits adoption by single individuals, the law to be applied without discrimination (27 i-ii):

Of the countries studied, Estonia, Hungary, Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation and Ukraine make general provision for adoption by single persons, while Cyprus, Lithuania and Serbia allow it in exceptional circumstances only. The Czech Republic allows single adoption regardless of sexual orientation. However, people who enter into registered partnership are excluded from access to single adoption since the law on registered partnership bans adoption for a registered person.

In none of these countries was there any evidence of specific measures to ensure that decisions on adoption are taken without discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity. In the case of Ukraine, the *Family Code* specifically prohibits adoption by persons with medical conditions on a list published by the Ministry of Health Care. This includes transsexualism.

# Where national law permits assisted reproductive treatment for single women, access to such treatment to be without discrimination (28 i-ii):

Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Macedonia, Montenegro, Romania,<sup>53</sup> the Russian Federation and Ukraine permit access to assisted reproductive treatment by single women. Serbia also does so, but only in exceptional circumstances. However, again, there was no evidence of measures to ensure such access without discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.

# v. Respect for private and family life and access to health care – specific transgender issues (Section IV of the Appendix, paras 20, 21 and 22, and Section VII, paras 35 and 36)

These paragraphs of Section IV of the Appendix require member states to review prior requirements for legal recognition and remove any that are abusive, to guarantee the full legal recognition of a person's gender reassignment in a quick, transparent and accessible way (including in documents originated by non-state actors), and to ensure that transgender persons are able to marry once gender reassignment has been completed. The paragraphs of Section VII require member states to ensure that transgender persons have effective access to appropriate gender reassignment services, and that any decisions limiting the costs covered by health insurance are lawful, objective and proportionate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Macedonia Summary Report - Appendix – Section v. Respect for private and family life and access to health care – specific transgender issues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Romania Compliance Documentation Report – paragraph 23

Two of the processes associated with the reassignment of a person's gender are a legal process, in which the record of a person's sex and first name are changed in identity and other documents ("legal gender recognition"), and a medical process, in which the individual's physical characteristics may be brought in line with their preferred gender ("gender reassignment treatment"). The human rights principles on which the Recommendation is based require that the two processes should be separate and that the extent of any medical process should be determined by the medical needs and wishes of the individual. It can range from little or no medical intervention, through to extensive gender reassignment surgery. In all the countries studied these two processes are mixed together, with legal gender recognition being made conditional on a medical diagnosis and usually also medical treatment. While medical treatment is often desired by transgender persons, this is by no means always the case, resulting in a situation where some individuals are faced with the choice of undergoing medical treatment (including, often, sterilisation) they do not need or wish, or being unable to obtain legal gender recognition.

#### Review prior requirements for legal recognition and remove any that are abusive (20 i-ii):

The Explanatory Memorandum lists irreversible sterilisation, hormonal treatment, preliminary surgical procedures and proof of the person's ability to live for a long period of time in the new gender (the so called "real life experience") as examples of prior requirements which should be reviewed.<sup>54</sup>

Of the countries studied, only Hungary, Portugal and Ukraine can be considered to have conducted such a review, although in Serbia the Commissioner for Protection of Equality (together with the Ombudsman) has recently established a working group to analyse legislation affecting transgender persons. This is of considerable concern, since research shows that abusive prior requirements are widespread. For example, of the countries studied, only Estonia, Hungary and Portugal do not require medical interventions as a condition of legal gender recognition. All the other countries require surgical procedures, (including sterilisation in many, for example, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Georgia, Italy (usually), Romania (sometimes), the Russian Federation (sometimes), Serbia and Ukraine) and sometimes also hormone treatment.

The Commissioner for Human Rights has commented: "It is of great concern that transgender people appear to be the only group in Europe subject to legally prescribed, state enforced sterilisation."

In Ukraine provisions exist which unreasonably exclude from gender reassignment persons with children younger than 18 and persons with homosexuality or transvestism "against a background of sexual role transformation".<sup>55</sup> The meaning of this latter phrase is unclear, but it would seem to invite discriminatory decisions.

#### Full legal gender recognition in a quick, transparent and accessible way (21 i-ii):

Of the countries studied, only Portugal approaches satisfying the requirement of making legal gender recognition possible in a quick, transparent and accessible way.<sup>56</sup> Many of the others have

 $<sup>^{54}</sup>$  Explanatory Memorandum to the Recommendation, text addressing paragraphs 20 – 21 of the Appendix to the Recommendation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> The Ministry of Health Care Order "On improvement of medical assistance to persons needing change (correction) of sex" (2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Even Portugal's procedure falls short of the standard of a "quick, transparent and accessible" process because it retains the requirement for a medical diagnosis.

little or nothing in the way of procedures or regulations, giving rise to confusion as to conditions for recognition and arbitrary decisions. For example, in Serbia, almost every city or municipality has developed its own procedures. In many countries, absolute discretion is given to medical institutions, with no procedures for appeal or challenge. In Lithuania, Poland and Romania transgender persons must go to court in order to get a decision, a process unlikely to favour either speed or accessibility. As noted above, in almost all the countries the processes involve medical treatment, and can therefore take years during which the individual may be required to live with the documents of one gender, and the physical appearance of the other, creating serious practical problems, particularly in fields such as employment.

Issues in the following countries give cause for other concerns.

In Cyprus the original gender marker data on birth certificates cannot be deleted, resulting in possible exposure of the individual's gender identity status, and serious invasion of their right to respect for private life.

In Lithuania Article 2.27 of the Civil Code allows any non-married person to change his or her legal gender if this is medically possible, but it also requires that the procedures for changing gender should be established by law. Parliament has failed to enact these procedures, as a consequence of which transgender persons cannot receive the medical treatment required for legal recognition, making it necessary for them to seek such treatment abroad. Even when they have undergone treatment abroad, in the absence of any regulations, they are forced to apply to the courts to obtain a new personal code, passport and other identity documents. In 2007, in the case of L v. Lithuania the European Court of Human Rights found this situation to violate Article 8 of the Convention. However Lithuania has failed to implement the necessary general remedies to comply with the judgment. Indeed, on the contrary, MPs have tabled proposals to amend the Civil Code to remove the right to undergo gender reassignment treatment. Apparently they consider that this will nullify the legal basis for cases repeating the argumentation of L v. Lithuania.

In Serbia, a new draft of the Law on Amendments and Addendums of the Law on Extrajudicial Proceedings includes measures for introducing a new gender reassignment procedure which, far from making gender legal recognition available in a "quick, transparent and accessible way", would bring additional problems to the already difficult, lengthy and painful processes, including court permission.

"A.K., a trans man who obtained a final court decision allowing him to update his identity papers, underwent several surgical interventions (ovarectomy, hysterectomy and mastectomy) and then requested the forensic medical act stating his sex. The expert evaluating A.K. decided that his gender was "female", in spite of the surgery and of the fact that AK had been living as a man for years, commenting that AK continued to have "female secondary sexual characteristics"." <sup>57</sup>

"When approached by a transgender woman who wanted to change her documents [they decided] to determine whether the change has really taken place. During the exam they observed and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Romania Summary Report – Appendix, Section v. Respect for private and family life and access to health care – specific transgender issues

measured her genitals and breasts, although she had all the necessary medical documents and even though this is not a standard procedure." <sup>58</sup>

"Although a transgender woman has been able to change all the other documents, the officials did not want to issue her a work permit with the new name, which has left her without work and money."<sup>59</sup>

"The applicant was diagnosed with gender identity disorder, got hormonal replacement therapy which led to irreversible changes and a mastectomy surgery....... All the facts were proved by a medical assessment report. The Civil Registry Office refused to issue a new official document containing the person's new gender and name on grounds of "the absence of a document on the carrying out of all the necessary procedures including phalloplasty."<sup>60</sup>

#### Ensure corresponding recognition and changes to documents by non-state actors (21 iii-iv):

In none of the countries studied were there procedures covering changes to all documents issued by non-state actors, such as educational diplomas, certificates of employment and insurance or banking documents. While informal procedures appear to work in three countries, Italy, Hungary and Portugal, the absence of procedures puts the private life of transgender persons at risk, and may create difficulties in areas such as employment. In Serbia the Commissioner for Protection of Equality has recommended all universities to issue new certificates and other documents at the request of transgender persons following legal gender recognition.

#### Ensure the right of a legally recognised transgender person to marry (22 i):

There was no evidence of problems in this area, although there was also no evidence of specific measures to guarantee this right.

#### Ensure effective access to appropriate gender reassignment services (35 i-iii):

In only two of the countries under review, the Czech Republic and Portugal, was the access to appropriate gender reassignment services considered even approaching an adequate level. Problems identified included lack of procedures, lack of standards and guidelines regarding treatment, inadequate or non-existent training, absence of medical professionals with the necessary skills, particularly for surgery, and indeed, in some countries, the absence of any gender reassignment services at all. In Romania the only surgeon who publicly admits to have expertise in this domain has a waiting time of between 2 to 5 years. It is also reported that Romanian health professionals commonly recommend that transgender persons undergo psychiatric treatment in order to accept their birth gender. In Serbia gender reassignment treatment has been mostly confined to the private health sector, unregulated by legislation, creating circumstances in which transgender persons may be subjected to different kinds of abuse.

Montenegro, which, in view of its population size has a relatively small number of transgender patients, is addressing these problems by a policy of contributing to the cost of treatment abroad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Serbia Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, Right to respect for private and family life, paragraph 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Serbia Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, Right to respect for private and family life, paragraph 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Russia Summary Report, Appendix, Section v., Respect for private and family life and access to health care – specific transgender issues

".... this doctor sent me to the department's head. She gathered about 5-6 people who made me undress, show them my physical capabilities, and pressurise me morally... She told me that I am such a fool, that I don't understand what I am doing, that God will punish me, and that anyway I won't be a fully-fledged man..... When she had read that ..... my mother recently died, she said: "This is why your poor mother could not stand it and died!" <sup>61</sup>

## Ensure that any decisions limiting the costs covered by health insurance are lawful, objective and proportionate (36 i-ii):

The Explanatory Memorandum amplifies the above as follows: "Where legislation provides for coverage of necessary health care costs by public or private social insurance systems, such coverage should then be ensured in a reasonable, non-arbitrary and non-discriminatory manner, taking into account also the availability of resources." <sup>62</sup>

Of the countries studied, Montenegro's new Law on Health Insurance provides for the coverage of 80% of the costs of gender reassignment, although this has not yet come into effect. In Serbia legislation which came into effect in January 2012 stipulates that at least 65% of the cost of health-care services will be provided from health insurance, if the gender reassignment is made for medical reasons. The Czech Republic, Portugal and Italy also generally cover all or a significant part of such costs, although in the case of Italy hormone therapy is not covered in all regions.

In Hungary only 10% of the costs are covered. In Romania the picture is confused, with a few cases where transgender people have managed to secure coverage of costs by the public health insurance system. In the remaining nine countries there would appear to be no effective contribution to such costs.

#### vi. Employment

Section V of the Appendix requires Member States to provide effective protection against discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, including legislation prohibiting discrimination, other policy related measures to combat discrimination, and specific measures in relation to the armed forces and transgender persons. It also requires Member States to protect the privacy of transgender individuals in employment.

#### Legislation specifically prohibiting discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation (29 i-ii):

Of the countries studied, only the Russian Federation and Ukraine have no legislation in this field. However, in two other countries the situation is not completely satisfactory: in Georgia legislation does not cover the process of recruitment or dismissal; in Macedonia the legislation uses a term – "sexual inclination" – which is not recognised internationally, potentially undermining its effectiveness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Ukraine Summary Report, Appendix, Section vi, Respect for private and family life and access to health care (specific transgender issues)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Explanatory Memorandum to the Recommendation, text addressing paragraph 36 of the Appendix to the Recommendation

#### Legislation specifically prohibiting discrimination on grounds of gender identity (29 i-ii):

Of the countries studied, only the Czech Republic, Hungary, Montenegro and Serbia have introduced such legislation.<sup>63</sup> In addition, Estonia's Gender Equality Act has been interpreted by the Gender Equality and Equal Treatment Commissioner to include gender identity. However, it should be noted that other EU member states have an obligation under EU law to provide protection from discrimination in employment on this ground, an obligation to which they have not given explicit effect.<sup>64</sup>

#### Other general measures to combat discrimination in employment (29 iii):

There was little evidence of other measures to combat discrimination in the workplace, and those that were identified were of questionable effect. Thus, in Hungary, a duty on certain public employers to adopt workplace and equal opportunity plans does not give rise to concrete measures promoting the inclusion LGBT people. In the case of Poland, where there are projects to combat employment discrimination in relation to age, sex or disability, it was noted that recognition of a need for projects to address discrimination faced by LGBT employees is only beginning to take shape.

#### Measures to combat discrimination in the Armed Forces (29 iv-v):

In the countries studied, there was little evidence of any measures taken in the Armed Forces to combat discrimination against LGBT persons and promote tolerance and respect. However, in 2010 Italy's Military Code incorporated a specific prohibition on all discrimination against LGBT military personnel in access, recruitment, duty assignments and transfers.

In Cyprus, although representatives of the Ministry of Defence maintain there is no issue of discrimination that needs to be addressed, recruits have reported serious instances of homophobic harassment, including taunts, physical attacks and rape.

It is also of concern that in three of the countries studied, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland, health and psychological eligibility provisions exist which permit the exclusion of transsexuals from the armed forces.

#### Measures to protect privacy of transgender individuals in employment (30 i):

There was no evidence in any of the countries studied of measures to protect the privacy of transgender individuals in employment.

"During my second year I decided to be more open in public about my identity and defend my rights freely.... My photo appeared on a cover of a magazine..... the manager of the café fired me as a lot of people .... would have negative attitudes towards me. I was in a very bad condition. I had financial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina's Law on Prohibition of Discrimination includes prohibition of discrimination on the grounds of "sex, sexual expression (expression of sex) or orientation". While there may have been an expectation that this would address gender identity, "sexual expression" does not cover the concept of "gender identity".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> The Gender Recast Directive, Directive 2006/54/EC, introduced an explicit reference in relation to discrimination based on 'gender reassignment': Recital 3 of the Preamble of this Directive codifies the Court of Justice of the European Union's *P. v S.* decision by stating that "The Court of Justice has held that the scope of the principle of equal treatment for men and women cannot be confined to the prohibition of discrimination based on the fact that a person is of one or other sex. In view of its purpose and the nature of the rights which it seeks to safeguard, it also applies to discrimination arising from the gender reassignment of a person".

difficulties and I nearly became a victim of prostitution ... Fortunately my mother helped me." (21year-old male to female transgender)<sup>65</sup>

*"I was going to a job interview, and I rang at the intercom. They forgot to put back the receiver and I heard them saying that based on my voice I 'must be a faggot'. When I arrived at the office, the cleaning lady told me that there is no vacancy."* <sup>66</sup>

"Following this [colleagues becoming aware of his sexual orientation], Maksim experienced unfriendly and humiliating attitude of his colleagues, and his boss bluntly said: "There is no place in our service for such ones as you! Do a favour for yourself – quit!" ... Maksim had to voluntarily leave his job because he "did not want extremes" in his own words."<sup>67</sup>

"I told them several times that I am transsexual and my documents are under revision. I was told that this is unimportant, and everything is OK. When I had quit my previous job and the next day came to this company, they said: "Sorry, but we cannot employ you".<sup>68</sup>

#### vii. Education

Section VI of the Appendix requires member states to ensure that the right to education can be enjoyed without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity. These include measures to safeguard the right of children and youth to education in a safe environment such as equality and safety policies, codes of conduct and training programmes for staff; and measures to promote mutual tolerance and respect in schools, including objective information in school curricula and educational materials, specific information and support for LGBT pupils and students, and measures to meet the special needs of transgender students.

#### Ensure the right to education without discrimination (31):

Of the countries under review, general anti-discrimination laws in Bosnia-Herzegovina, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Lithuania, Montenegro, Romania and Serbia (referred to previously in relation to paragraph 2 of the Recommendation) cover sexual orientation discrimination in education, while this legislation in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Montenegro and Serbia also covers gender identity discrimination.

In Portugal, a new Student's Statute entered into force in 2012, prohibiting discrimination of any member of the school community on the grounds of their actual or perceived sexual orientation or gender identity. In Serbia, the Law on Higher Education prohibits sexual orientation discrimination.

However these legal provisions are only supported by practical measures of the kind proposed in the Recommendation in a few of the countries and then only to a limited extent: in the Czech Republic limited steps have been taken in relation to bullying and the content of curricula, but action does not extend to training of educational staff. In Macedonia, there are very limited provisions relating to some aspects of education, but again, no practical measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Georgia Summary Report – Appendix, Section V. Employment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Hungary Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii. Employment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Ukraine, Summary Report, Appendix, Section vi, Employment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Ukraine, Summary Report, Appendix, Section vi, Employment.

In the case of Georgia a Draft of the State Policy on Youth elaborated in 2011 makes express reference to the state's obligations towards LGBT youth. However there is no information on when the policy will be finalised, or regarding the implementation timetable and tools to be used.

In Poland a Regulation concerning training in different types of schools adopted in 2008 contained content aimed at preventing discrimination based on sexual orientation. However there is no evidence that it is being implemented.

# Introduction of measures such as equality and safety policies and codes of conduct for educational staff (31 i):

There is little evidence of any measures taken under this heading in the countries studied.

# Training programmes for educational staff to treat their LGBT pupils and students with respect, and respond to discrimination against them (31 ii):

There is very little evidence of training programmes in any of the countries concerned that would address the need to treat LGBT pupils with respect and help teachers analyse and respond effectively to discrimination against them. The best example comes from Macedonia, where a new programme, "Education for life skills" for secondary schools, addresses human rights and non-discrimination on different grounds including sexual orientation and gender identity. It includes material on marginalised groups in society, the stereotypes and prejudices that influence relationships between different social groups, and the right of everyone to equal opportunities and enjoyment of rights. The programme includes an implementation manual, and training for teachers. However, because this is a new programme, there are still no results regarding implementation by the teachers and its effect on pupils. In the Czech Republic a book "Homophobia in pupils groups" has been issued to local authorities for use by the regional professionals working at preventing bullying, but its use is voluntary, and extent of its use unknown.<sup>69</sup> In Italy, there is some in-service training on these questions, but it is not systematic, and often organised on the initiative of LGBT NGOS.

#### Support school campaigns and cultural events against homophobia and transphobia (31 iii):

In Italy, on International Day Against Homophobia (May 17<sup>th</sup>, 2012) the Ministry sent an official communication to all state schools asking for support for the mounting of campaigns and events against all forms of discrimination. The communication addressed the need to act against homophobia (but not transphobia) and highlighted some tools provided by the Ministry for this purpose. But it did not require specific actions.

# Provide objective Information in curricula and sex and health education classes on sexual orientation and gender identity (32 i-iv):

#### Curricula

Of the countries studied, only Cyprus, the Czech Republic and Portugal included information on sexual orientation and gender identity in school curricula to any extent and in a reasonably objective manner. However, even then the information included was far from comprehensive. In the case of Romania, the Ministry of Education stated that sexual orientation and gender identity are addressed in health education. However, this is an optional subject, studied at the discretion of the school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Czech Republic Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii, Education

principal, and includes just one lesson on sexual orientation, in the grade for pupils for 18 – 19 years old.

In Cyprus an indicator for being able to "critically analyse diversity regarding sexual orientation" has recently been introduced in the secondary school sexual health education curriculum. In the Czech Republic information on sexual orientation and gender identity is incorporated in elementary and secondary school curricula, in the subjects, "People and Society", "People and their World", "Art and Culture".

In Hungary the National Basic Curriculum does not refer to information on sexual orientation or gender identity, schools being left to choose whether to incorporate such topics. Research shows that only a small minority do so. In Poland, information on sexual orientation appears in the school curriculum, but is frequently not communicated in an objective manner and with respect for LGBT people. It is not uncommon for students still to be taught that homosexuality is a 'phase' or a 'disorder' and can be altered or cured. The school curriculum also contains references to gender identity, but does not address it in a manner appropriate to current human rights standards.

#### Textbooks

It is of concern that textbooks in a number of the countries studied still include homophobic or transphobic material. These include Bosnia-Herzegovina, Hungary, Macedonia, Poland and Serbia. In Bosnia-Herzegovina some are reported to still define homosexuality as an illness and include it with a group of disorders such as paedophilia and drug addiction. In Macedonia, a university textbook, "Criminal Psychology", includes derogatory and misleading information about LGBT people. A complaint to the Commission for Protection against Discrimination was rejected on the grounds that the information represented a scientific position based on scientific research.

In Montenegro a working group is analysing the representation of LGBT human rights within the education system. Text books in primary and secondary schools do not include negative content, although they tend to ignore the subject. University textbooks are still to be analysed. Some are known to be outdated and contain incorrect and discriminatory information.

In Poland research indicates that some textbooks which treat homosexuality as a pathology, as a departure from socially accepted norms or even as a sexual deviation, are still being used. The Ministry of Science and Higher education has refused to take action, justifying its stand on the principle of school autonomy.

In Serbia, in July 2011, a Working Group formed by the Commissioner for Protection of Equality presented a set of Recommendations to the Ministry of Education and Science, the National Education Council and the Centre for Improving the Quality of Pedagogy and Education, for removing discriminatory content from teaching materials and practices and for promoting tolerance, respecting diversity and human rights. However, none of the recommendations has been implemented so far.

# LGBT pupils and students provided with the necessary information to live in accordance with their sexual orientation and gender identity (32 iii):

Only in the Czech Republic was there any evidence of efforts to provide LGBT pupils and students with such information.

#### Measures taken to meet needs of transgender pupils (32 iv)

In not one of the countries studied was there any evidence of measures taken to meet the special needs of transgender pupils.

"Research conducted ...... at the Institute of Social Sciences of University of Warsaw shows that 35% of [students] witnessed an LGBTQ person being publicly insulted." <sup>70</sup>

"21% of students surveyed admitted they had verbally attacked or threatened someone they thought was gay or "feminised", while 13% said they had actually helped beat them up. Some 60% of the respondents held that violence against homosexual persons was always justified......"<sup>71</sup>

"[research] among the LGBT population in 2007 found that 49% of respondents have suffered discrimination, prejudice, humiliation and/or aggression based on their sexual orientation and gender in secondary education. A similar research in 2010 found that respondents were quite critical about the level of support they received from their schools and teachers: 87% of respondents agreed with the statement that their teachers could have done more to make the school more liveable for a young LGBT person. As high as 65% reported that no information whatsoever was provided on homosexuality in the school curricula, with only 7% reporting detailed discussions; the situation was even worse for transsexuality: 86% and 2% respectively." <sup>72</sup>

"Even more serious are the cases of teachers intervention to support the bully and not the victim. When interviewed, teachers themselves report the need for training on sexual orientation and gender identity related issues..."<sup>73</sup>

"According to KPH's latest report 'Equality Lesson' ca. 50 % of the faculty admit that they need special skills to be able to tackle homophobic bullying in schools." <sup>74</sup>

"They said I must go and change my clothes. And I just could not change my clothes, I only had clothes for boys. I was told to go and borrow my mom's. I came home in tears. My father went to the school with me, brought me into the classroom. I got a C for the exam."<sup>75</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Poland Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii, Education

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Serbia Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, Education, paragraph 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Hungary Summary Report, Appendix, Section ix, Education

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Italy Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii, Education

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Poland Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii, Education

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Ukraine, Summary Report, Appendix, Section vii, Education

## viii. Health - other than transgender specific health issues<sup>76</sup> (Section VII of the Appendix paragraphs 33, 34,)

These paragraphs of Section VII of the Appendix require member states to ensure that the highest attainable standard of health can be enjoyed without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity. Measures include taking account of the specific needs of LGBT people in the development of national health plans, including suicide prevention measures, health surveys, curricula and training courses, permitting patients to identify their "next of kin" without discrimination, removing homosexuality from the national classification of diseases, withdrawing medical textbooks and other documents that treat homosexuality as a disease, and ensuring no one is forced to undergo any medical treatment because of their sexual orientation or gender identity.

### Inclusion of LGBT specific needs in national health plans, including suicide prevention measures and health surveys, curricula and training courses (33 i-iv):

With the exception of inclusion in HIV/AIDS prevention measures, there is no evidence in any of the countries studied that national health plans and services take account of the specific needs of LGBT people.

The only positive initiative identified was at regional level in Italy, where, for example, in Tuscany, health officials are mandated to develop appropriate measures to train health professionals in order to avoid discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in the health sector, and to give appropriate information and services in the area of sexual and reproductive health to LGBT people and particularly to youth under 25 years old.

#### Identification of partner as next of kin (33 v)

In the absence of legal recognition of same-sex couples, identification of a patient's partner as next of kin is problematic in most of the countries studied. In Georgia, the legislation provides an exhaustive list of who can be regarded as "next of kin". This does not include same-sex partners. The situation in Romania and Serbia is similar. In Estonia, no rules stop someone defining their partner as next of kin, but experience shows that this does not prevent health care officials from refusing to recognise them. In Poland a patient may indicate their "next of kin", but this does not help if the patient is unconscious, unless the partners have already granted each other a power of attorney. In Lithuania, also, powers of attorney are the only way to address this problem. In Cyprus there is no procedure, and the position is unclear. In Macedonia it is reported that, in practice, same-sex partners are often not recognised as next of kin by health workers, despite the fact that the Law for Patient's Rights provides specific protection against discrimination based on sexual orientation.

#### Removal of homosexuality from the national classification of diseases (34 i)

In all the countries studied homosexuality has been removed from the national classification of diseases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> See Section v above

### Withdrawal of medical textbooks and training materials which treat homosexuality as a disease (34 ii)

Such textbooks and training materials still appear to be in use in a number of the countries studied. For example: in Macedonia, the textbooks "Medical pedagogy" and "Psychiatry" and "Development Psychology" of the Faculty of Medical Sciences at the University St. Ayril and Methodius; in Romania, where a reference book, "Clinical Sexology", presents homosexuality under the heading "major sexual deviations (sexual perversions)", together with paedophilia, necrophilia, etc, and where the curriculum for psychiatry at the "Carol Davila" Medicine and Pharmacy University of Bucharest includes "homosexuality" and "transsexualism" under the topic "Behaviour and Personality Disorders in Adult Age (pathological personalities)"; and in Ukraine, where a recently published textbook recommended by the Ministry of Health Care classifies homosexuality as a mental disorder and recommends both psychological treatment and, in some cases, treatment with hormones.<sup>77</sup>

In Poland a training course for nurses and midwives is being revised to remove homophobic content, while in Georgia, following reports that homosexuality is treated as a disease in certain textbooks and by some medical practitioners, the Ministry of Health has advised that it plans to modify curricula for "further regulating of this issue".

"In particular, the survey of Our World Centre revealed that when medical staff knew or suspected the homosexuality of the patient 28% of the respondents met with discriminatory attitudes by the personnel."<sup>78</sup>

"LGB persons experience unequal treatment, harassment or abusive behavior by health professionals. The Italian National Institute of Statistics has recently registered that 10,2% of LGB people have been discriminated in accessing the health care system by medical and non-medical staff."<sup>79</sup>

"LGB persons' special needs are not recognized as a consequence of their social invisibility. The 17,6% of gay and bisexual men and the 21% of lesbians and bisexual women having psychological therapy do not reveal their sexual orientation to their psychologist. This data greatly increase if related to the relation with doctors in general: the 78% of men and 86,8% of women included in the survey do not reveal their sexual orientation to their doctor." <sup>80</sup>

"Since the treatment was long and tiring she was often accompanied ....by her female partner.... she was asked by the head nurse in the company of several other nurses to stop intimately touching her as several other elderly patients had complained about their behaviour. The intimate touching referred to was holding hands and stroking the others shoulder/face every once in a while."<sup>81</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Since finalisation of the Ukraine Compliance Documentation Report, two more Ministry of Health Care recommended medical textbooks describing homosexuality as a "sexual perversion" have been identified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Ukraine Summary Report, Appendix, Section viii, Health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Italy Summary Report, Appendix, Section viii, Health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Italy Summary Report, Appendix, Section viii, Health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Hungary Summary Report, Appendix, Section x, Health

"Cases include a second mother being prohibited from being present at birth and a doctor stating that it was probably good that a miscarriage occurred since the baby would have had a difficult life with homosexual parents." <sup>82</sup>

*"My local doctor insisted that I should be treated for homosexualism, prescribed for me some injections and drugs that I decided not to take."*<sup>83</sup>

#### ix. Housing

Section VIII of the Appendix requires that access to adequate housing can be enjoyed without discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity through such measures as prohibiting discrimination in the sale or rent of housing, in provision of loans for purchase of housing, in recognition of the rights of a tenant's partner, and in the case of evictions; also, provision of related information to landlords and tenants, and measures to ensure non-discriminatory access to shelter and emergency accommodation, and to address the risks of homelessness faced by LGBT people, including young persons excluded by their families.

#### Legislation prohibiting discrimination in housing (37 i):

Of the countries surveyed, only Bosnia-Herzegovina, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Lithuania and Romania specifically prohibit discrimination in these fields on grounds of sexual orientation, and only the Czech Republic and Hungary do so on grounds of gender identity. In Cyprus, the general antidiscrimination (Commissioner) Law covers sexual orientation discrimination in housing, although departments dealing with housing did not appear to be aware of this. In Macedonia, although the Law on Prevention and Protection from Discrimination does not cover discrimination based on sexual orientation, the Commission for Protection against Discrimination can address housing related sexual orientation discrimination. In Portugal the constitution can be read to provide protection in principle from sexual orientation related discrimination in housing (taking Article 13, non-discrimination, in conjunction with Article 65, right to adequate housing), but there is no detailed implementing legislation.

#### Provision of information to landlords and tenants (37 iii)

Only in the Czech Republic has such information been made generally available.

Measures to ensure non-discriminatory access to shelter and emergency accommodation and to address the risks of homelessness faced by LGBT people, including young persons excluded by their families (37 ii and 38 i)

There is no evidence that any of the countries studied had taken any measures in respect of the above.

"The study of attitudes toward LGBT persons held by the National Institute of Statistics shows that 8% of respondents justify landlord refusal to rent to LGB persons; the average is 24,8% when it comes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Estonia Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, VII, Health, paragraph 33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Ukraine, Summary Report, Appendix, Section viii, Health

to rent to a transgender person. 14,3% of LGBT persons have been discriminated while searching an house to rent or to buy."<sup>84</sup>

*"On December* 1<sup>st</sup>2011 LGBT Forum Progress, LGBT organization from Podgorica, opened its very own shelter for LGBT persons in conflict with their families and evicted from their homes." <sup>85</sup>

*"In 2011 I decided to leave home because of the conflict with my parents and wanted to rent an apartment together with my friend. The owner of the apartment suspected we were gay and was therefore aggressive. He said he would not allow men dressed like us to live in his house. He even threatened us with physical violence if we would not leave the apartment immediately."* <sup>86</sup>

#### x. Sports

Section IX of the Appendix requires member states to combat sexual orientation or gender identity discrimination in sports through measures to counteract and punish the use of discriminatory insults, codes of conduct for sports organisations, encouragement of partnerships between LGBT organisations and sports clubs, and anti-discrimination campaigns, and to put an end to the exclusion of transgender persons from sports activity.

The research revealed the following few specific measures to combat sexual orientation or gender identity discrimination in sports.

#### General measures to prevent the risk of exclusion from participation in sports (39)

In Portugal Law nº 5/2007 states that everyone is entitled to physical activity and sport regardless of their sexual orientation,<sup>87</sup> regulates the principle of ethics in sports and establishes that it is for the State to adopt measures to prevent and punish unsportsmanlike demonstrations, including all forms of discrimination. There is also a National Plan for Ethics in Sports, and an Ombudsman for Ethics in Sports. However, neither the National Plan nor the Ombudsman's mission mention sexual orientation or gender identity issues.

#### **Other measures**

In the Czech Republic, the Olympic Committee, together with the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports published a handbook, *The Prevention of Abuse in Sports Environment in ČR in 2005* which defined abuse as "*sexual proposals, comments, and questions on someone's body, clothing, private life, sexual orientation etc.*" It was distributed widely to sports organisations and schools.

In Italy, some LGBT sports groups have received public funding to take part in sports events. In the case of Montenegro, members of an LGBT organisation, LGBT Forum Progress, were able to take part in the LGBT Eurogames 2012, thanks to the support of the Montenegrin government.

"Research in 2007 among LGBT people found that every fourth respondent (23%) have suffered discrimination, prejudice, humiliation and/or aggression in sports clubs. The homo- and transphobic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Italy, Summary Report, Appendix, Section ix, Housing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Montenegro, Summary Report, Appendix, Section ix, Housing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Georgia, Summary Report – Appendix, Section VIII – Housing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> although gender identity is not mentioned

culture in sports is also demonstrated well by the fact that not a single known sportsperson have come out of the closet in Hungary." <sup>88</sup>

*"I don't discuss this. Let the physicians talk about it. It's not my business. I don't have anything with them but I don't understand them. It's like they don't exist for me." (Mitica Dragomir, the President of the Professional Football League)*<sup>89</sup>

"On June 28, 2010 I participated in a sporting competition – "Cheerful Starts" in Tbilisi. I heard someone cursing at me from the hall: "you fucking Lesbian" as they could not understand whether I was a girl or a boy... While we were talking with them a guy came to their support and slapped me in the face. I did not call police because I was afraid of homophobic reaction." <sup>90</sup>

#### xi. Right to seek asylum

Section X of the Appendix requires member states, where they have international obligations in this respect, to recognise a well-founded fear of persecution based on sexual orientation or gender identity as a valid ground for the granting of refugee status and to ensure that asylum seekers are not sent to a country where their life or freedom would be threatened or they face the risk of torture, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity ("non-refoulement"). It also requires that asylum seekers be protected from any discriminatory policies or practices on these grounds, and that staff responsible for processing asylum requests are provided with training in the specific problems encountered by LGBT asylum seekers.

### Recognition of a well-founded fear of persecution based on sexual orientation or gender identity as a valid ground for the granting of refugee status; and *non-refoulement* obligations (42 i, 43 i-ii)

It proved difficult for researchers to get a clear picture of the extent to which these requirements are met. It seems that, of the countries studied, only Cyprus, Hungary, Italy, Portugal and Romania explicitly refer to sexual orientation in their laws or regulations on asylum, and that only Portugal explicitly refers to gender identity. However in a number of other states case law or ministerial policy would appear to confirm that LGBT asylum applicants may be covered as members of a "particular social group".

Concerns were raised by many of the national reports as to the practical application of obligations with regard to LGBT asylum seekers including absence of official guidelines relating to sexual orientation and gender identity, refusing LGBT people asylum on the basis that persecution can be avoided if they conceal their sexual orientation or gender identity, and failure to adequately research country of origin information.

In short, if the requirements of the Recommendation are to be met, there is a clear need in most of the states concerned for legislation or regulations to explicitly recognise LGBT persons as members of a "particular social group" for asylum determination purposes, and for guidelines for immigration and asylum officials to enable them to address the specific circumstances of LGBT asylum seekers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Hungary, Summary Report, Appendix Section xii, Sports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Romania, Compliance Documentation Report, Appendix, IX, Sports, paragraph 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Georgia Summary Report – Appendix, Section IX, Sports

#### Training of staff responsible for asylum requests (42 ii)

In only four countries, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Romania did there appear to have been any specific training for immigration staff in relation to LGBT asylum seekers.

#### Protection from discriminatory policies or practices in administrative detention centres (44 i-ii)

In none of the countries studied was there any evidence of specific measures to protect LGBT asylum seekers from discriminatory policies or practices when in detention.

*"Even if criminal sanctions against homosexuals or homosexual behaviour are in force, the sexual orientation can be practised in a hidden, discreet way, which prevents eventual attacks". (Office of Immigration and Nationality in the case of an Algerian asylum-seeker.)*<sup>91</sup>

#### xii. National human rights structures

Section XI of the Appendix requires member states to ensure that national human rights structures are clearly mandated to address discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, and in particular should be able to make recommendations on legislation and policies, raise awareness amongst the general public, and – as far as national law provides – examine individual complaints and participate in court proceedings.

### National human rights structures clearly mandated to address discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity (45 i)

Of the countries under review, national human rights structures are clearly mandated to address sexual orientation discrimination in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Montenegro, Poland, and Romania, but not in Georgia, Macedonia, Portugal, the Russian Federation or Ukraine; and they are clearly mandated to address gender identity discrimination in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Montenegro, and Poland, but not in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus, Georgia, Macedonia, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation or Ukraine.

Serbia has several state institutions for human rights that deal to a greater or lesser extent with LGBT rights. Of these, only one, the Commissioner for the Protection of Equality, is clearly mandated to deal with sexual orientation and gender identity.

Estonia, Italy and Lithuania do not have bodies compliant with the Paris principles. However, Italy's National Office Against Racial Discrimination (UNAR) has been mandated to combat discrimination against LGBT persons, while Lithuania's Equal Opportunities Ombudsperson is empowered to address sexual orientation discrimination, but not, explicitly, gender identity discrimination.

### National human rights structures to make recommendations, raise awareness, and support individual complaints (45 ii)

In practice, most national human rights structures in the countries reviewed have, to a greater or lesser extent, taken action in support of the rights of LGBT people, although there are reservations in this respect with regard to Lithuania and Macedonia. In Ukraine, the former Commissioner for Human Rights failed to take up discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, but her successor, Ms Valeria Lutkovska, has, since her appointment in April 2012, shown a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Hungary, Summary Report, Appendix, Section xiii, Right to seek asylum

willingness to cooperate with LGBT human rights organisations. In September 2012 she wrote to the Chairman of the Ukrainian parliament opposing the draft laws on "prohibition of propaganda for homosexualism". There are also positive developments in Georgia, where the Public Defender has made strong statements in relation to homophobic comments in Parliament, and in the Russian Federation, where for the first time LGBT issues have been mentioned in the annual report of the Commissioner for Human Rights.

In Serbia the Commissioner for the Protection of Equality, the Provincial Ombudsman of the Autonomous Province of Vojvodina, and the Gender Equality Institute of the Autonomous Province of Vojvodina are considered to have worked systematically for the rights of the LGBT population, although the national Ombudsman has shown significantly less commitment.

However, in most of the countries under review the activities of national human rights structures in support of LGBT people are limited and short-term in nature. A number of the reports note, in fairness, that these organisations are seriously under resourced.

"I consider the statements [regarding a proposal for a constitutional ban on same-sex marriage] made by the leader and members of the parliamentary minority were fraught with homophobic spirit no less worrisome than the proposed changes. Unfortunately, a part of their statements contained hate speech, .... creating a danger that sexual minorities may be assaulted and ostracized from the society." (Statement by Public Defender of Georgia)<sup>92</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Georgia, Summary Report, Appendix, Section XI, National human rights structures

### Appendix 1 – Participating organisations

Bosnia- Herzegovina	Sarajevo Open Centre
Cyprus	Cyprus Family Planning Association
	accept-LGBT Cyprus
Czech Republic	Platform for equality, recognition and diversity (PROUD)
Estonia	Estonian Human Rights Centre
Georgia	Women's Initiatives Supporting Group (WISG)
Hungary	Háttér Support Society for LGBT People in Hungary
Italy	Centro Risorse LGBTI
Lithuania	Lithuania Gay League (LGL)
Macedonia	Macedonia Helsinki Committee for Human Rights
Montenegro	Juventas
Poland	Campaign Against Homophobia (KPH)
	Trans-Fuzja
Portugal	ILGA Portugal
Romania	ACCEPT Association
The Russian Federation	Russian LGBT Network
Serbia	Labris - Organization for Lesbian Human Rights
	Gayten-LGBT
Ukraine	Nash Mir (Our World) Gay and Lesbian Centre

## Appendix 2 - The Recommendation, its Appendix, and the associated checklist questions used in the Compliance Documentation Reports

#### Recommendation

- 1. examine existing legislative and other measures, keep them under review, and collect and analyse relevant data, in order to monitor and redress any direct or indirect discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity;
  - *i.* Has a review been conducted of existing legislative and other measures which could result directly or indirectly in (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity discrimination?
  - *ii.* Are processes in place to ensure that the discrimination thus identified is redressed?
- 2. ensure that legislative and other measures are adopted and effectively implemented to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, to ensure respect for the human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons and to promote tolerance towards them;
  - *i.* Has legislation against discrimination on the grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity covering employment, social security and health care, education, access to and supply of goods and services, including housing, been introduced?
  - *ii.* Has a comprehensive strategy, including long-term education and awareness raising programmes, aimed at tackling discriminatory or biased attitudes and behaviour within the general public and correcting prejudices and stereotypes, been implemented?
- 3. ensure that victims of discrimination are aware of and have access to effective legal remedies before a national authority, and that measures to combat discrimination include, where appropriate, sanctions for infringements and the provision of adequate reparation for victims of discrimination;
  - *i.* Do effective legal remedies for victims of (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity discrimination exist at national level?
  - *ii.* Are there effective procedures to make victims aware of, and able to access, such remedies, even where a violation is committed by a person acting in an official capacity?
  - iii. Are the remedies effective, proportionate and dissuasive?
  - iv. Do the remedies include, where appropriate, adequate reparation for victims?

### 4. be guided in their legislation, policies and practices by the principles and measures contained in the appendix to this recommendation;

### 5. ensure by appropriate means and action that this recommendation, including its appendix, is translated and disseminated as widely as possible

- *i.* What steps have been taken to ensure as wide as possible dissemination of the Recommendation and its appendix?
- ii. Have the Recommendation and its appendix been translated?
- *iii.* Have they been disseminated:
- within the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender communities?
- throughout public administration?

- throughout law-enforcement structures, including the judiciary and penitentiary system?
- to national human rights protection structures (including equality bodies)?
- throughout the educational system?
- throughout the health-care system?
- to representatives of public and private sector employees and employers?
- to the media?
- to relevant non-governmental organisations?

#### Appendix to Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5

- I. Right to life, security and protection from violence
- A. "Hate crimes" and other hate-motivated incidents
  - 1. Member states should ensure effective, prompt and impartial investigations into alleged cases of crimes and other incidents, where the sexual orientation or gender identity of the victim is reasonably suspected to have constituted a motive for the perpetrator; they should further ensure that particular attention is paid to the investigation of such crimes and incidents when allegedly committed by law enforcement officials or by other persons acting in an official capacity, and that those responsible for such acts are effectively brought to justice and, where appropriate, punished in order to avoid impunity.
    - *i.* Does the training of police officers ensure that they are aware of the need to make special efforts to investigate any (a) homophobic or (b) transphobic connotations in hate crimes or hate motivated incidents effectively, promptly and impartially, particularly where violence is involved?
    - ii. Is there an independent and effective machinery for receiving and investigating reports of hate crimes or hate motivated incidents allegedly committed by law-enforcement staff, particularly where sexual orientation or gender identity constitute one of the motives?
  - 2. Member states should ensure that when determining sanctions, a bias motive related to sexual orientation or gender identity may be taken into account as an aggravating circumstance.
    - *i.* Do legislative measures to combat "hate crimes" and other hate motivated incidents exist? Do these measures recognise (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity as a possible motive in such crimes or incidents?
    - ii. Does this legislation ensure that a bias motive related to (a) sexual orientation (b) gender identity may be taken into account as an aggravating circumstance when determining sanctions?
  - 3. Member states should take appropriate measures to ensure that victims and witnesses of sexual orientation or gender identity related "hate crimes" and other hate-motivated incidents are encouraged to report these crimes and incidents; for this purpose, member states should take all necessary steps to ensure that law enforcement structures, including the judiciary, have the necessary knowledge and skills to identify such crimes and incidents and provide adequate assistance and support to victims and witnesses.

- *i.* Has a simple and comprehensible definition of "hate crimes", which includes the motive of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity been disseminated to the general public?<sup>93</sup>
- *ii.* Do training programmes and procedures ensure that the police and judiciary possess the knowledge and skills to identify such crimes and incidents and provide victims and witnesses with adequate assistance and support?
- iii. Do training programmes and codes of conduct for the police and judiciary ensure that LGBT persons are treated in a non-discriminatory and respectful manner so that they feel safe to report hate crimes or other hate motivated incidents, whether as victims or witnesses, in relation to their (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- iv. Are units within the police tasked specifically with investigating crimes and incidents linked to sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- v. Are there special police liaison officers tasked with maintaining contact with local LGBT communities in order to foster a relationship of trust?
- vi. Is there a system of anonymous complaints or on-line complaints, or using other means of easy access, which allow reporting by third parties in order to gather information on the incidence and nature of these incidents?
- 4. Member states should take appropriate measures to ensure the safety and dignity of all persons in prison or in other ways deprived of their liberty, including lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons, and in particular take protective measures against physical assault, rape and other forms of sexual abuse, whether committed by other inmates or staff; measures should be taken so as to adequately protect and respect the gender identity of transgender persons.
  - *i.* Do training programmes and codes of conduct for prison staff ensure that prisoners are treated with respect and without discrimination in relation to their (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
  - ii. Are there effective measures to minimise the dangers of physical assault, rape and other forms of sexual abuse, including effective procedures for determining the disciplinary or criminal liability of those responsible, including for failure of supervision?
  - *iii.* Is there an independent and effective machinery for receiving and investigating reports of such crimes by prison staff?
  - iv. In the case of transgender prisoners, are there procedures to ensure that the gender identity of the individual is respected in regard to interactions with prison staff such as body searches and also particularly in the decisions taken on the placement of a prisoner in a male or female prison?
- 5. Member states should ensure that relevant data are gathered and analysed on the prevalence and nature of discrimination and intolerance on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, and in particular on "hate crimes" and hate-motivated incidents related to sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - *i.* Is there research into the nature and causes of hostile and negative attitudes to LGBT people, with a view to developing effective policies to combat these phenomena?
  - ii. Are there regular surveys into levels of social acceptance of / hostility towards LGBT people?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> e.g. through police websites or leaflets distributed in the community.

iii. Is there an effective system for recording and publishing statistics on hate crimes and hate-motivated incidents related to (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?

#### B. "Hate speech"

- 6. Member states should take appropriate measures to combat all forms of expression, including in the media and on the Internet, which may be reasonably understood as likely to produce the effect of inciting, spreading or promoting hatred or other forms of discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons. Such "hate speech" should be prohibited and publicly disavowed whenever it occurs. All measures should respect the fundamental right to freedom of expression in accordance with Article 10 of the Convention and the case law of the Court.
  - *i.* Do legislative measures penalising "hate speech" on certain grounds exist? Do these measures penalise (a) homophobic and (b) transphobic "hate speech"?
  - *ii.* Are media organisations, including those operating on the internet, encouraged to promote in their own practices (e.g. through codes of practice):
    - a culture of respect, tolerance and diversity, and
    - to avoid negative and stereotyped representations of LGBT people?
  - *iii.* Has legislation for criminalising "hate speech" on the internet been implemented, and does this cover (a) homophobic and (b) transphobic "hate speech"?
  - *iv.* Have internet service providers been encouraged to take measures to prevent the dissemination of (a) homophobic and (b) transphobic material, threats and insults?
  - v. If there are incidents of "hate speech", are they publicly disavowed by leading public officials?
- 7. Member states should raise awareness among public authorities and public institutions at all levels of their responsibility to refrain from statements, in particular to the media, which may reasonably be understood as legitimising such hatred or discrimination.
  - *i.* Have guidelines been issued or other measures been taken to raise awareness of public authorities/ institutions of their responsibility to refrain from such statements?
  - ii. Have there been cases of statements by representatives of public authorities and institutions which may reasonably be understood as legitimising such hatred or discrimination?
- 8. Public officials and other state representatives should be encouraged to promote tolerance and respect for the human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons whenever they engage in a dialogue with key representatives of the civil society, including media and sports organisations, political organisations and religious communities.
  - *i.* Has guidance been issued to public officials and state representatives in this respect?
  - *ii.* If so, is there evidence of public officials and other state representatives promoting tolerance for LGBT people in their dialogue with civil society, and encouraging the use of responsible and non-violent speech?

#### II. Freedom of association

- 9. Member states should take appropriate measures to ensure, in accordance with Article 11 of the Convention, that the right to freedom of association can be effectively enjoyed without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; in particular, discriminatory administrative procedures, this including excessive formalities for the registration and practical functioning of associations, should be prevented and removed; measures should also be taken to prevent the abuse of legal and administrative provisions, such as those related to restrictions based on public health, public morality and public order.
  - i. Are organisations whose publicly stated purpose is to work for the well-being of LGBT people, whether for their human rights, or in other ways, prevented from gaining official registration?
  - ii. If so, is this through the use of discriminatory administrative procedures, through restrictions based on public health, public morality or public order, or through other means?
  - Are there examples of measures taken to: iii.
    - ensure that LGBT organisations can operate freely,
    - defend their interests when necessary, •
    - facilitate and encourage their work?
  - Are LGBT organisations involved on a partnership basis when framing and iv. implementing public policies which affect LGBT persons?
- 10. Access to public funding available for non-governmental organisations should be secured without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - Is public funding earmarked for NGOs accessible to LGBT organisations i. without discrimination?
  - ii. Has such funding been made available to LGBT organisations?
- 11. Member states should take appropriate measures to effectively protect defenders of human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons against hostility and aggression to which they may be exposed, including when allegedly committed by state agents, in order to enable them to freely carry out their activities in accordance with the Declaration of the Committee of Ministers on Council of Europe action to improve the protection of human rights defenders and promote their activities.
  - i. Does the state provide effective protection from hostility and aggression for LGBT human rights organisations?
  - Are there examples of measures taken by the state to create an environment ii. conducive to the work of such organisations, enabling them freely to conduct their activities, and promoting respect for their work? iii.
    - Are LGBT human rights organisations able to work with
    - national human rights institutions and ombudsmen,
    - the media.
    - other human rights organisations?
  - Are they able to take part in training sessions, international conferences and iv. other human rights activities?

- 12. Member states should ensure that non-governmental organisations defending the human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons are appropriately consulted on the adoption and implementation of measures that may have an impact on the human rights of these persons.
  - *i.* Are LGBT organisations consulted on the adoption and implementation of measures affecting the rights of LGBT persons?
  - *ii.* Have there been such consultations regarding the implementation of this Recommendation?

#### III. Freedom of expression and peaceful assembly

- 13. Member states should take appropriate measures to ensure, in accordance with Article 10 of the Convention, that the right to freedom of expression can be effectively enjoyed, without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, including with respect to the freedom to receive and impart information on subjects dealing with sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - *i.* Have the authorities ensured the freedom to receive and transmit information and ideas relating to sexual orientation and gender identity, including:
    - activities that support the human rights of LGBT persons
    - publication of material
    - media coverage
    - organisation of/participation in conferences
    - dissemination/access to information on safe sexual practices?
  - *ii.* Or, on the contrary, have there been cases where restrictions have been placed on freedom of expression?
  - iii. Have the authorities encouraged pluralism and non-discrimination in the media in respect of issues of (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity?
- 14. Member states should take appropriate measures at national, regional and local levels to ensure that the right to freedom of peaceful assembly, as enshrined in Article 11 of the Convention, can be effectively enjoyed, without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - *i.* Have the authorities ensured freedom of peaceful assembly for LGBT people?
- 15. Member states should ensure that law enforcement authorities take appropriate measures to protect participants in peaceful demonstrations in favour of the human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons from any attempts to unlawfully disrupt or inhibit the effective enjoyment of their right to freedom of expression and peaceful assembly.
  - *i.* If there has been hostility to LGBT freedom of assembly events, have the law enforcement authorities taken reasonable and appropriate measures to enable lawful demonstrations to proceed peacefully?
  - *ii.* In particular, have the police protected participants in peaceful LGBT demonstrations effectively?
  - *iii.* Have the police acted with integrity and respect towards LGBT people and their supporters when policing LGBT freedom of assembly events?
- 16. Member states should take appropriate measures to prevent restrictions on the effective enjoyment of the rights to freedom of expression and peaceful

assembly resulting from the abuse of legal or administrative provisions, for example on grounds of public health, public morality and public order.

- *i.* Have the authorities placed restrictions on freedom of assembly events? If so, what have been the grounds?
- *ii.* Have conditions been placed, for example, with regard to the route or timing of demonstrations, which are not generally applied to other demonstrators?
- iii. If restrictions have been placed on freedom of assembly events, has it been possible to challenge them in the courts or through other independent review mechanisms?
- 17. Public authorities at all levels should be encouraged to publicly condemn, notably in the media, any unlawful interferences with the right of individuals and groups of individuals to exercise their freedom of expression and peaceful assembly, notably when related to the human rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons.
  - *i.* If there have been unlawful interferences with the right to freedom of expression and peaceful assembly,
  - a. Has there been encouragement to public authorities to condemn such interferences?
  - b. Have public authorities actually condemned such interferences?
  - *ii.* Where there has been public hostility towards the exercise of freedom of assembly by LGBT people, have the authorities upheld this right publicly?
  - iii. Or, on the contrary, have the authorities endorsed or supported hostility towards LGBT freedom of assembly events?

#### IV. Right to respect for private and family life

- 18. Member states should ensure that any discriminatory legislation criminalising same-sex sexual acts between consenting adults, including any differences with respect to the age of consent for same-sex sexual acts and heterosexual acts, are repealed; they should also take appropriate measures to ensure that criminal law provisions which, because of their wording, may lead to a discriminatory application are either repealed, amended or applied in a manner which is compatible with the principle of non-discrimination.
  - *i.* Does legislation criminalise same-sex sexual acts? Are there any differences in the age of consent? If either applies, what steps are the authorities taking to repeal the legislation?
  - *ii.* Are there any criminal law provisions which, because of their wording or scope are liable to be applied in a discriminatory manner regarding (a) sexual orientation or
    - (b) gender identity?
  - iii. If so, what steps are the authorities taking to remedy this situation?
- 19. Member states should ensure that personal data referring to a person's sexual orientation or gender identity are not collected, stored or otherwise used by public institutions including in particular within law enforcement structures, except where this is necessary for the performance of specific, lawful and legitimate purposes; existing records which do not comply with these principles should be destroyed.

- *i.* What steps have been taken to ensure that public authorities comply with this requirement, in respect of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity particularly with regard to records held by law enforcement authorities?
- *ii.* What steps have the authorities taken to ensure that existing records are destroyed?
- iii. Have these steps been effective?
- Is there any evidence of:
- the continued existence of such records
- the continuing collection of such data?

20. Prior requirements, including changes of a physical nature, for legal recognition of a gender reassignment, should be regularly reviewed in order to remove abusive requirements.

- *i.* Has a review of such prior requirements been conducted?
- *ii.* Are there still requirements which might be considered disproportionate or even abusive,

such as:

- irreversible sterilisation,
- hormonal treatment,
- preliminary surgical procedures, or proof of a person's ability to live for a long period of time in the new gender?
- 21. Member states should take appropriate measures to guarantee the full legal recognition of a person's gender reassignment in all areas of life, in particular by making possible the change of name and gender in official documents in a quick, transparent and accessible way; member states should also ensure, where appropriate, the corresponding recognition and changes by non-state actors with respect to key documents, such as educational or work certificates.
  - *i.* Are there procedures in operation which ensure the full legal recognition of a person's gender reassignment?
  - *ii.* Do these make possible the change of name and gender in official documents including birth certificates, identity papers, driving licences, passports, social insurance cards and numbers, electoral, land and text registers in a quick, transparent and accessible way?
  - iii. Are there procedures to ensure corresponding changes in key documents originated by non-state actors, such as
  - diplomas,
  - certificates of employment, and
  - insurance or banking documents?
  - *iv.* If yes, do these procedures include the protection of the person's private life, so that no third party can become aware of the gender reassignment?
- 22. Member states should take all necessary measures to ensure that, once gender reassignment has been completed and legally recognised in accordance with paragraphs 20 and 21 above, the right of transgender persons to marry a person of the sex opposite to their reassigned sex is effectively guaranteed.
  - *i.* Is the right of a legally recognised transgender person to marry a person of the sex opposite to their reassigned sex effectively guaranteed?
- 23. Where national legislation confers rights and obligations on unmarried couples, member states should ensure that it applies in a non-discriminatory

way to both same-sex and different-sex couples, including with respect to survivor's pension benefits and tenancy rights.

- *i.* Does legislation confer rights and obligations on unmarried couples? If so, have steps been taken to ensure that these rights and obligations apply to same-sex couples?
- 24. Where national legislation recognises registered same-sex partnerships, member states should seek to ensure that their legal status and their rights and obligations are equivalent to those of heterosexual couples in a comparable situation.
- *i.* Does legislation recognise registered same-sex partnerships? If so, have steps been taken to ensure that their legal status and rights and obligations are equivalent to those of heterosexual couples?
- 25. Where national legislation does not recognise nor confer rights or obligations on registered same-sex partnerships and unmarried couples, member states are invited to consider the possibility of providing, without discrimination of any kind, including against different sex couples, same-sex couples with legal or other means to address the practical problems related to the social reality in which they live.
  - *i.* If same-sex couples enjoy no rights or obligations, either through access to registered partnership or through their status as unmarried couples, have the authorities considered the possibility of implementing legal or other means to address the practical problems arising from this lack of recognition?
- 26. Taking into account that the child's best interests should be the primary consideration in decisions regarding the parental responsibility for, or guardianship of a child, member states should ensure that such decisions are taken without discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - *i.* What steps have been taken to ensure that decisions regarding the parental responsibility for, or guardianship of a child, are taken without discrimination based on (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity?
  - ii. In practice, are such decisions taken on a non-discriminatory basis?
- 27. Taking into account that the child's best interests should be the primary consideration in decisions regarding adoption of a child, member states whose national legislation permits single individuals to adopt children should ensure that the law is applied without discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - *i.* What steps have been taken to ensure that decisions regarding adoption of a child by a single person (where such adoption is permitted by national legislation), are taken without discrimination based on (a) sexual orientation (b) gender identity?
  - ii. In practice, are such decisions taken on a non-discriminatory basis?
- 28. Where national law permits assisted reproductive treatment for single women, member states should seek to ensure access to such treatment without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation.

- *i.* What steps have been taken to ensure that access by single women to assisted reproductive treatment (where permitted by national legislation), is without discrimination based on sexual orientation?
- ii. In practice, is such access granted on a non-discriminatory basis?

#### V. Employment

- 29. Member states should ensure the establishment and implementation of appropriate measures which provide effective protection against discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity in employment and occupation in the public as well as in the private sector. These measures should cover conditions for access to employment and promotion, dismissals, pay and other working conditions, including the prevention, combating and punishment of harassment and other forms of victimisation.
- *i.* Does legislation exist which prohibits discrimination in employment in the public and private sector on grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- ii. Does it cover:
  - access to employment (including recruitment); promotion,
  - dismissals,
  - pay,
  - harassment and other forms of victimisation?
- iii. Have the authorities promoted other measures to combat discrimination, harassment and victimisation, in both the public and private sectors, for example:
  - adoption of codes of conduct for both employers and employees;
  - training and awareness raising programmes for both employers and employees;
  - distribution to employees of materials explaining their rights, complaints mechanisms and remedies;
  - recruitment efforts directed at LGBT persons;
  - the adoption of non-discrimination policies explicitly referencing sexual orientation and gender identity;
    - co-operation with and support for employee groupings of LGBT persons?
- iv. Have steps been taken to abolish laws, regulations and practices which discriminate on grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity in access to and career advancement within certain professions and occupations, including particularly the armed forces?
- v. Specifically in relation to the armed forces:
  - Have measures been taken to provide protection for LGBT persons against investigations, warnings, harassment, bullying, cruel initiation rites, humiliation and other forms of ill-treatment?
  - Do codes of conduct and training address the need to combat discrimination against LGBT persons and promote tolerance and respect?
- vi. Do measures designed to combat discrimination in employment fully and effectively cover transgender persons?
- vii. Have employment programmes focusing specifically on employment opportunities for transgender persons been developed?
- 30. Particular attention should be paid to providing effective protection of the right to privacy of transgender individuals in the context of employment, in

particular regarding employment applications, to avoid any irrelevant disclosure of their gender history or their former name to the employer and other employees.

*i.* Have measures been taken to avoid disclosure of transgender persons' gender history or former name in the context of employment?

#### **VI. Education**

- 31. Taking into due account the over-riding interests of the child, member states should take appropriate legislative and other measures, addressed to educational staff and pupils, to ensure that the right to education can be effectively enjoyed without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; this includes, in particular, safeguarding the right of children and youth to education in a safe environment, free from violence, bullying, social exclusion or other forms of discriminatory and degrading treatment related to sexual orientation or gender identity.
  - i. Have
  - equality and safety policies,
  - codes of conduct and
  - handbooks

for educational staff been introduced or updated to ensure that LGBT pupils and students receive their education in a safe environment, free from violence, bullying, social exclusion or other forms of discriminatory and degrading treatment?

- *ii.* Do initial and in-service training programmes for teachers and other educational staff address the need for them to
  - a. treat their LGBT pupils and students with respect
  - b. be able to detect, analyse and effectively respond to and combat discrimination on these grounds in schools?
- iii. Is there support for the mounting of school campaigns and cultural events against homophobia and transphobia, including the participation, where appropriate, of representatives of LGBT organisations?
- 32. Taking into due account the over-riding interests of the child, appropriate measures should be taken to this effect at all levels to promote mutual tolerance and respect in schools, regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity. This should include providing objective information with respect to sexual orientation and gender identity, for instance in school curricula and educational materials, and providing pupils and students with the necessary information, protection and gender identity. Furthermore, member states may design and implement school equality and safety policies and action plans and may ensure access to adequate anti-discrimination training or support and teaching aids. Such measures should take into account the rights of parents regarding education of their children.
  - *i.* Is information on
    - a. sexual orientation
    - b. gender identity

provided in school curricula and sex and health education classes?

ii. Is it provided in a respectful and objective manner?

- iii. Are LGBT pupils and students provided with the necessary information, protection and support to enable them to live in accordance with their sexual orientation and gender identity?
- *iv.* Are measures taken to adequately meet the special needs of transgender students in their school life, for example with regard to change of name or gender in school documents?

#### VII. Health

- 33. Member states should take appropriate legislative and other measures to ensure that the highest attainable standard of health can be effectively enjoyed without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; in particular, they should take into account the specific needs of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons in the development of national health plans including suicide prevention measures, health surveys, medical curricula, training courses and materials, and when monitoring and evaluating the quality of health-care services.
- i. Do
  - a. the design of national health plans,
  - b. health surveys,
  - c. suicide prevention programmes,
  - d. medical training programmes,
  - e. training courses and materials
  - f. the monitoring and quality assessment of health-care services

take into account specific needs in relation to (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?

- *ii.* Do training programmes for health professionals enable them to deliver the highest attainable standard of health-care to all persons, with full respect for (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- iii. Are education, prevention, care and treatment programmes and services in the area of sexual and reproductive health available to LGBT people, and do they respect their needs?
- iv. Are health professionals and social workers encouraged to create an environment that is reassuring and open to young LGBT persons, for example through information campaigns?
- v. Are patients in hospital or otherwise the subject of medical emergencies, free to identify their "next of kin", and are rules on issues regarding "next of kin" applied without discrimination on grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?

# 34. Appropriate measures should be taken in order to avoid the classification of homosexuality as an illness, in accordance with the standards of the World Health Organisation.

- *i.* Has homosexuality been removed from the national classification of diseases?
- *ii.* Have all policy documents, medical textbooks and training materials which may previously have treated homosexuality as a disease been corrected or withdrawn?
- iii. Are measures in place to ensure that no one is forced to undergo any form of treatment, protocol or medical or psychological test or confined in a medical institution because of their sexual orientation or gender identity?
- 35. Member states should take appropriate measures to ensure that transgender persons have effective access to appropriate gender reassignment services,

including psychological, endocrinological and surgical expertise in the field of transgender health care, without being subject to unreasonable requirements; no person should be subjected to gender reassignment procedures without his or her consent.

- *i.* Do transgender persons have effective access to appropriate gender reassignment services, including psychological, endocrinological and surgical expertise?
- *ii.* If it was the practice to make transgender persons undergo therapy to accept their birth gender, has this practice now been abandoned?
- iii. Have measures been adopted to ensure that no child has their body irreversibly changed by medical practices designed to impose a gender identity without his or her full, free and informed consent, in accordance with his or her age and maturity?
- 36. Member states should take appropriate legislative and other measures to ensure that any decisions limiting the costs covered by health insurance for gender reassignment procedures should be lawful, objective and proportionate.
- *i.* Where legislation provides for the coverage of necessary health-care costs by public or private social insurance systems, is such coverage for gender reassignment treatment ensured?
- *ii.* If yes, is it ensured in a reasonable, non-arbitrary and non-discriminatory manner?

#### VIII. Housing

- 37. Measures should be taken to ensure that access to adequate housing can be effectively and equally enjoyed by all persons, without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; such measures should in particular seek to provide protection against discriminatory evictions, and to guarantee equal rights to acquire and retain ownership of land and other property.
- *i.* Does legislation prohibit discrimination in such areas as:
  - the sale or rent of housing;
  - the provision of loans for purchase of housing;
  - the recognition of the rights of a tenant's partner;
  - evictions
  - on the grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- *ii.* Are provisions in place to ensure non-discriminatory access to shelter and other emergency accommodation is provided in regard to (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- iii. Is information available to landlords and tenants aimed at preventing such discrimination?
- *iv.* Are adequate and effective legal or other remedies available to victims of such discrimination?
- v. Are any awareness raising campaigns conducted among housing agencies in order to level-up their knowledge on anti-discrimination provisions?
- 38. Appropriate attention should be paid to the risks of homelessness faced by lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons, including young persons and children who may be particularly vulnerable to social exclusion, including from

their own families; in this respect, the relevant social services should be provided on the basis of an objective assessment of the needs of every individual, without discrimination.

- *i.* Have social programmes, including support programmes, been established to address factors which increase the vulnerability to homelessness of LGBT people, especially children and young people, including schemes of neighbourhood support and security?
- ii. Have the relevant agencies been provided with training and awareness-raising programmes to ensure that they are aware of and sensitive to the needs of LGBT people facing homelessness, particularly young persons?

#### IX. Sports

- 39. Homophobia, transphobia and discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity in sports are, like racism and other forms of discrimination, unacceptable and should be combated.
- 40. Sport activities and facilities should be open to all without discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; in particular, effective measures should be taken to prevent, counteract and punish the use of discriminatory insults with reference to sexual orientation or gender identity during and in connection with sports events.
- *i.* What measures have been taken to prevent the risk of exclusion from participation in sports on grounds of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- *ii.* By encouraging, for example:
  - the drawing up and dissemination of codes of conduct on questions relating to sport and sexual orientation or gender identity for sports organisations and clubs,
  - partnerships between associations representing lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons and sports clubs,
  - anti-discrimination campaigns in the sports world,
  - support for sports clubs set up by lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons themselves.
- iii. Have effective measures been taken to prevent, counteract and punish the use of discriminatory insults during and in connection with sports events?
- iv. In particular:
  - Has homophobic and transphobic chanting at or around sports events been made a criminal offence?
  - Have the relevant provisions of the European Convention on Spectator Violence and Misbehaviour at Sports Events, the European Sports Charter
  - and ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No.12 been implemented in respect of (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?
- v. Have specific appropriate measures been taken to:
  - put an end to the exclusion of transgender persons from sports activity or competitions,
  - remove the obstacles encountered by them in participating in sport (dressing room access),
  - recognize their preferred gender?

- 41. Member states should encourage dialogue with and support sports associations and fan clubs in developing awareness-raising activities regarding discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons in sport and in condemning manifestations of intolerance towards them.
- *i.* Have steps been taken to encourage dialogue with, and support for sports associations and fan clubs in
  - *developing awareness-raising activities*
  - condemning homophobic and transphobic behaviour during and in connection with sports events?

#### X. Right to seek asylum

- 42. In cases where member states have international obligations in this respect, they should recognise that a well-founded fear of persecution based on sexual orientation or gender identity may be a valid ground for the granting of refugee status and asylum under national law.
- *i.* Is a well founded fear of persecution based on (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity recognized as a valid ground for the granting of refugee status and asylum?
- *ii.* Are staff responsible for processing asylum requests provided with training in the specific problems encountered by LGBT refugees or asylum seekers?
- iii. Are asylum requests turned down on the ground that the claimant can escape persecution in the country of origin by keeping his or her sexual orientation or gender identity secret?
- 43. Member states should ensure particularly that asylum seekers are not sent to a country where their life or freedom would be threatened or they face the risk of torture, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.
- *i.* What procedures are in place to ensure compliance with this obligation?
- *ii.* Are there documented cases where asylum seekers have been returned to such a country?
- 44. Asylum seekers should be protected from any discriminatory policies or practices on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; in particular, appropriate measures should be taken to prevent risks of physical violence, including sexual abuse, verbal aggression or other forms of harassment against asylum seekers deprived of their liberty, and to ensure their access to information relevant to their particular situation.
- *i.* What measures have been taken to comply with this requirement?
- ii. In particular, have the staff of administrative detention centres, police and medical staff and voluntary organisations with access to such cases, received appropriate training and information on issues regarding (a) sexual orientation and (b) gender identity?

#### XI. National human rights structures

45. Member states should ensure that national human rights structures are clearly mandated to address discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity; in particular, they should be able to make recommendations

on legislation and policies, raise awareness amongst the general public, as well as – as far as national law so provides – examine individual complaints regarding both the private and public sector and initiate or participate in court proceedings.

*i.* Are national human rights structures clearly mandated to address discrimination on grounds of (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity?

*ii.* In practice do they

- make recommendations on legislation and policies,
- conduct awareness-raising among the general public
- examine individual complaints
- participate in court proceedings
- speak out in support of the exercise of rights by LGBT people, for example, when freedom of assembly events are opposed,

in relation to (a) sexual orientation or (b) gender identity?

#### **Appendix 3 – Country summaries**

#### <u>Short summaries of the NGO country reports on compliance with the Council of Europe</u> <u>Recommendation on combating discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity</u>

#### Bosnia-Herzegovina

While BiH has basic anti-discrimination legislation in place that covers sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination, in practice this appears to be little used, and there is almost no detailed implementing legislation to cover the different issues in the Recommendation, except for employment and housing. Little or no effort is made to implement the practical aspects of the Recommendation through guidelines or codes of conduct or training. There is virtually no information on the Recommendations measures for public officials, or the general public. While there is gradual recognition of sexual orientation discrimination, especially on the part of human rights institutions, when it concerns gender identity, this is scarcely recognised at all.

#### <u>Cyprus</u>

Cyprus has made very limited progress in complying with the Recommendation. It does not appear to be widely known among public officials and has had little or no impact in guiding policy and practice. Apart from employment, there is very little legislation prohibiting discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity. While to date there is little overt discrimination, this is mainly due to the fact that LGBT visibility is very weak. As a result, few people feel able to challenge discrimination when it does occur, and religious and political figures do not champion LGBT equality, with the notable exception of the Ombudswoman. The failures in regard to gender identity are even more marked, with no public assistance for gender reassignment and almost no anti-discrimination protection.

#### Czech Republic

The legislative framework of the Czech Republic now outlaws discrimination in many of the areas in the Recommendation. NGOs are free to operate and to cooperate with public officials. The police behave correctly when dealing with LGBT people. However, some politicians continue publicly to express hostility towards LGBT groups and events. Gender identity discrimination is not as well addressed as sexual orientation, and transgender people still have to suffer abusive procedures before surgery, although there is very effective recognition of change once reassignment has taken place. Health remains one of the less developed areas in terms of LGBT equality, as do the needs of young LGBT people in schools. Overall, though, progress has been relatively good.

#### <u>Estonia</u>

Estonia's legislation is very largely compliant with the Recommendation, except in the field of family law, where issues like partnership, adoption and financial benefits have yet to be addressed. State and public officials still sometimes manifest homophobia and transphobia that are not adequately addressed in training, guidelines and codes of conduct. The remedies for discrimination are not yet sufficiently broad and robust to deter discrimination, even in some areas like employment, where anti-discrimination norms are comprehensive. A few areas, like sport and housing, still require considerable attention. But in general Estonian LGBT individuals and groups enjoy a relatively high level of non-discrimination protection.

#### <u>Georgia</u>

While Georgia has basic constitutional provisions in place that guarantee equality, it has failed to translate these into concrete legal and practical steps in most areas, except for freedom of speech and assembly. Little or no progress has been made in employment, health, education or sport. The State authorities are reluctant to co-operate with LGBT organisations and it is still politically acceptable to use hate speech. Very little has been done, outside the Ministry of Justice, to train officials to carry out their duties in a non-discriminatory and respectful way. Even less has been done to comply with the recommendations on gender identity.

#### <u>Hungary</u>

Hungary has transposed much of the Recommendation into a legislative framework that functions well, especially in relation to freedoms of assembly and information. There is still a need for changes in practice and attitudes in regard to education, sport, and family life, including adoption. While gender identity is included in anti-discrimination provisions, there remain considerable practical obstacles for transgender people to obtain their identity of choice. Public authorities in Hungary are subject to political pressure so the commitment to equality and discrimination depends on the political outlook of the prevailing government rather than on European human rights principles and values. The judiciary, however, is willing to uphold these, even in the face of political hostility. There is insufficient training at all levels.

#### <u>Italy</u>

Overall, Italy has not made significant progress in complying with the Recommendation. Apart from the area of employment, discrimination has not been outlawed in the recommended areas. There are few training programmes or guidelines for public officials. However, homophobic hate speech is outlawed and the media are encouraged to promote tolerance and respect. Freedom of assembly and expression are respected, and LGBT NGOs can operate freely and engage with government, but there remains public hostility from some politicians, religious leaders and public officials. Little effort has been made to implement the Recommendation in areas like education and sport, as well as services. While transgender people can get access to adequate health care and can change their legal status in several important respects, they are not covered by general anti-discrimination provisions and little effort is currently being made to redress this.

#### <u>Lithuania</u>

Lithuania has carried out a number of important legal reforms to outlaw discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation, but has not to date carried out similar reforms in respect of gender identity. When it comes to implementing the reforms, there is still much work to do. No measures have been adopted in employment, education, housing or sports. In the field of health protection the specific needs of LGBT persons remain largely disregarded.

State authorities are reluctant to actively promote LGBT equality, and in some cases work to frustrate it. Few public services have taken steps to implement the Recommendation in their fields. It is not known if asylum is granted based on sexual orientation and gender identity persecution. Recognition of the needs of transgender people is almost non-existent. There is an active NGO

community that is free to advocate for equality and challenge discrimination when it occurs, despite some political hostility and lack of support from the State. However, public officials do not initiate consultations with LGBT groups on issues that affect their rights.

#### <u>Macedonia</u>

Macedonia has made very little progress in implementing the Recommendation in almost all the fields it covers. The general anti-discrimination law that covers most issues does not specifically include sexual orientation and gender identity. There is little or no implementing legislation and public officials are given little information, training or encouragement to promote equality. Many politicians are openly hostile to LGBT equality. While LGBT organisations can operate freely, they do not feel strong enough at present to organise Gay Pride marches or similar events. In areas like family life, access to health, education and sport, much progress reemains to be made. The situation of transgender people is very poor, with no medical facilities and a hostile environment.

#### Montenegro

Montenegro has made some advances in complying with the Recommendation as regards sexual orientation, but still has some way to go as regards gender identity.

The constitution does not specifically mention sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination, but there is a chapter on this in the 2010 discrimination law. There do not appear to be effective remedies in the event of discrimination. Specific measures to implement the Recommendation are meagre. Hate crimes are not outlawed; nor is hate speech. LGBT groups can operate freely and play a role with human rights organisations in working to prevent sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination. Few of the other recommendations have been implemented.

While there is some training for relevant officials (mainly by LGBT NGOs), this is not systematic. There is employment protection against sexual orientation discrimination, but this does not apply to gender identity. The armed forces are included in anti-discrimination provisions, but they receive no training on the issue. Compliance in areas like housing, family life, sport and asylum is weak or nonexistent. The issue of discrimination on gender identity grounds seems barely to have been addressed either by the legislation or by practice.

#### <u>Poland</u>

Poland has made some advances in complying with the Recommendation. While there are no specific protections against sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination, except in employment, the general constitutional provisions, if interpreted correctly, apply to these grounds. However, remedies for discrimination are largely ineffective. The most current problem is unwillingness to provide adequate protection to hate crime victims, despite the urgent need to do so. Data collection on sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination is poor so it is not possible to evaluate training of public officials on behaviour. Although more efforts are made to promote equality policies across the public sector, they are still weak and ineffective. Basic human rights are guaranteed, including freedom of assembly and expression. Gender identity issues, such as recorded gender data, remain to be resolved in several cases. Much still remains to be done to ensure compliance with the Recommendation in other areas, such as education, health, housing, sport and asylum.

#### **Portugal**

As regards sexual orientation, the Portuguese constitutional and legal framework is broadly complaint with the Recommendation concerning criminal law, freedoms of expression and of assembly and non-discrimination in employment and access to public goods, although access to services is not so well covered. LGBT organisations enjoy rights to operate freely and are consulted regularly on policies and their implementation. Family law is largely neutral as regards sexual orientation, except as regards assisted reproduction that is only available to heterosexual couples.

As regards gender identity, the Portuguese legal framework is largely compliant with the Recommendation.

Portugal still has work to do to ensure that the Recommendation becomes fully operative among public officials and service providers in almost all areas through codes of conduct, training programmes and daily practice so as to take account of the particular circumstances and needs of LGBT people. For especially vulnerable groups, like young people, both regarding their sexual orientation and gender identity, there need to be tailored programmes.

#### <u>Romania</u>

The legislation in Romania has gone some way to outlaw sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination, but its implementation falls well short of what is called for in the Recommendation. There has been no review of laws and practices. Public officials do not receive specific training or guidance. The Recommendation has not been translated or distributed. Hate crimes include sexual orientation, but not gender identity. There has been almost no implementation of any measures to cover gender identity. In the fields of education, health, housing and sports, no measures have been taken in the light of the Recommendation. LGBT NGOs can operate freely, but they receive little or no support from public figures; Romania remains a deeply homo- and transphobic society where LGBT people have little confidence in public authorities protecting their right to non-discrimination, although the national human rights mechanism is becoming more willing to advocate for LGBT equality.

#### **Russian Federation**

Russia has made no changes in law or practice to implement the Recommendation in any of the fields that it covers. Public authorities are deeply homophobic and transphobic, reflecting the views of society generally, and make no effort to change their own or public views in favour of nondiscrimination. If anything, attitudes in Russia have hardened since the Recommendation was adopted, encouraged both by religious and political figures. Even the officials charged with promoting and protecting human rights generally fail to act when it comes to issues of sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination. However, there is an active and growing LGBT NGO sector that enjoys limited freedom of expression, but still faces severe practical restrictions on freedoms of association and of assembly, in common with most other civil society groups in Russia that focus on human rights.

#### <u>Serbia</u>

Serbia has reasonably comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation that includes gender identity in limited areas. It is currently drafting a national anti-discrimination strategy that includes LGBT people. However, implementation of the legislation is poor and LGBT people have little confidence in the justice system to remedy anti-LGBT violence and other forms of discrimination. Very few of the specific measures in the Recommendation have been implemented. Hate speech by media and

public officials remains a serious concern. There is no guidance or training to promote tolerance. LGBT organisations can operate freely, but they do not enjoy freedom of assembly. Although they can change gender, transgender people experience serious difficulties in obtaining legal gender recognition and getting documents changed. There is no recognition of same-sex partners and access to reproductive assistance and adoption is denied to them. Discrimination in employment is widespread and unremedied. In other areas of education, health, housing and sport, the Recommendation has had no influence on policies or practices.

#### <u>Ukraine</u>

The public authorities in Ukraine have taken no steps to implement the Recommendation in any fields, starting with its translation to reviewing laws and practices to reduce discrimination. Indeed, public authorities at all levels tolerate if not encourage sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination and make no effort to combat it. There have been efforts in the Parliament to restrict freedom of expression of LGBT groups (condemned by the Ombudsman) and public authorities place obstacles in the exercise of freedom of assembly, as well as the registration of LGBT NGOs. Transgender people face abusive requirements before gender re-assignment can take place, but this is in any case very difficult to obtain. Apart from HIV/AIDS prevention work, there is no recognition of the specific needs of LGBT people in the field of health, and many health practitioners and officials continue to regard homosexuality as a disease to be cured.

#### Appendix 4 – Glossary

The definitions below are taken from the report *Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe* published by the Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe in 2011.<sup>94</sup>

Discrimination is legally defined as unjustified, unequal treatment:

- **Direct discrimination** occurs when for a reason related to one or more prohibited grounds (for example, sexual orientation and gender identity) a person or group of persons is treated less favourably than another person or another group of persons is, has been, or would be treated in a comparable situation; or when, for a reason related to one or more prohibited grounds, a person or group of persons is subjected to a detriment.

- Indirect discrimination occurs when a provision, criterion or practice would put persons having a status or a characteristic associated with one or more prohibited grounds (including sexual orientation and gender identity) at a particular disadvantage compared with other persons, unless that provision, criterion or practice is objectively justified by a legitimate aim, and the means of achieving that aim are appropriate and necessary.

**Gender identity** refers to a person's deeply felt individual experience of gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth, and includes the personal sense of the body and other expressions of gender (that is, "gender expression") such as dress, speech and mannerisms. The sex of a person is usually assigned at birth and becomes a social and legal fact from there on. However, some people experience problems identifying with the sex assigned at birth – these persons are referred to as "transgender" persons. Gender identity is not the same as sexual orientation, and transgender persons may identify as heterosexual, bisexual or homosexual.

**Gender reassignment treatment** refers to different medical and non-medical treatments which some transgender persons may wish to undergo. However, such treatments may also often be required for the legal recognition of one's preferred gender, including hormonal treatment, sex or gender reassignment surgery (such as facial surgery, chest/breast surgery, different kinds of genital surgery and hysterectomy), sterilisation (leading to infertility). Some of these treatments are considered and experienced as invasive for the body integrity of the persons. Harassment constitutes discrimination when unwanted conduct related to any prohibited ground (including sexual orientation and gender identity) takes place with the purpose or effect of violating the dignity of a person or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment.

**Hate crimes** include intimidation, threats, property damage, assault, murder or any other criminal offence where the victim, premises or target of the offence are selected because of their real or perceived connection, attachment, affiliation, support or membership of an LGBT group. There should be a reasonable suspicion that the motive of the perpetrator is the sexual orientation or gender identity of the victim.

**Hate-motivated incident** are incidents, acts or manifestations of intolerance committed with a bias motive that may not reach the threshold of hate crimes, due to insufficient proof in a court of law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe (second edition) (pp. 129 – 132)© Council of Europe - <u>http://www.coe.int/t/Commissioner/Source/LGBT/LGBTStudy2011\_en.pdf</u>

for the criminal offence or bias motivation, or because the act itself may not have been a criminal offence under national legislation.

**Hate speech** against LGBT people refers to public expressions which spread, incite, promote or justify hatred, discrimination or hostility towards LGBT people – for example, statements made by political and religious leaders or other opinion leaders circulated by the press or the Internet which aim to incite hatred.

**Homophobia** is defined as an irrational fear of, and aversion to, homosexuality and to lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons based on prejudice. **Transphobia** refers to a similar phenomenon, but specifically to the fear of, and aversion to, transgender persons or gender non-conformity. Manifestations of homophobia and transphobia include discrimination, criminalisation, marginalisation, social exclusion and violence on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.

**LGBT people** or **LGBT persons** is an umbrella term used to encompass lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender persons. It is a heterogeneous group that is often bundled together under the LGBT heading in social and political arenas. Sometimes LGBT is extended to include intersex and queer persons (LGBTIQ).

**Sexual orientation** is understood to refer to each person's capacity for profound emotional, affectional and sexual attraction to, and intimate and sexual relations with, individuals of a different gender (heterosexual) or the same gender (homosexual, lesbian, gay) or more than one gender (bisexual).

**Transgender** persons include persons who have a gender identity which is different from the gender assigned to them at birth and those people who wish to portray their gender identity in a different way from the gender assigned at birth. It includes those people who feel they have to, prefer to, or choose to, whether by clothing, accessories, mannerisms, speech patterns, cosmetics or body modification, present themselves differently from the expectations of the gender role assigned to them at birth. This includes, among many others, persons who do not identify with the labels "male" or "female", transsexuals, transvestites and cross-dressers. A transgender man is a person who was assigned "female" at birth but has a gender identity which is "male" or within a masculine gender identity spectrum. A transgender woman is a person who was assigned "male" at birth but has a gender identity spectrum. Analogous labels for sexual orientation of transgender people are used according to their gender identity rather than the gender assigned to them at birth. A heterosexual transgender man, for example, is a transgender man who is attracted to female partners. A lesbian transgender woman is attracted to female partners.

**Transsexual** refers to a person who has a gender identity which does not correspond to the sex assigned at birth and consequently feels a profound need to permanently correct that sex and to modify bodily appearance or function by undergoing gender reassignment treatment.